



SIGN 135 • Management of epithelial ovarian cancer

A national clinical guideline

November 2013 • Revised 2018

	LS OF EVIDENCE				
++	High quality meta-analyses, systematic reviews of RCTs, or RCTs with a very low risk of bias				
+	Well conducted meta-analyses, systematic reviews, or RCTs with a low risk of bias				
-	Meta-analyses, systematic reviews, or RCTs with a high risk of bias				
	High quality systematic reviews of case control or cohort studies				
2 ⁺⁺ High quality case control or cohort studies with a very low risk of confounding or bias and a high probab relationship is causal					
<u>0</u> +	Well conducted case control or cohort studies with a low risk of confounding or bias and a moderate probability that the relationship is causal				
<u>)</u> -	Case control or cohort studies with a high risk of confounding or bias and a significant risk that the relationship is not causal				
8	Non-analytic studies, eg case reports, case series				
1	Expert opinion				
iRA	DES OF RECOMMENDATION				
	: The grade of recommendation relates to the strength of the evidence on which the recommendation is based. It does not reflect the cal importance of the recommendation.				
	At least one meta-analysis, systematic review, or RCT rated as 1^{++} , and directly applicable to the target population; or				
Α	A body of evidence consisting principally of studies rated as 1 ⁺ , directly applicable to the target population, and demonstrating overall consistency of results				
B	A body of evidence including studies rated as 2 ⁺⁺ , directly applicable to the target population, and demonstrating overall consistency of results; or				
	Extrapolated evidence from studies rated as 1 ⁺⁺ or 1 ⁺				
с	A body of evidence including studies rated as 2 ⁺ , directly applicable to the target population and demonstrating overall consistency of results; or				
	Extrapolated evidence from studies rated as 2 ⁺⁺				
D	Evidence level 3 or 4; or				
	Extrapolated evidence from studies rated as 2+				
	OD PRACTICE POINTS				
GC	Recommended best practice based on the clinical experience of the guideline development group				

www.nice.org.uk/accreditation edit

NHS Evidence has accredited the process used by **Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network** to produce guidelines. Accreditation is applicable to guidance produced using the processes described in SIGN 50: a guideline developer's handbook, 2008 edition (www.sign.ac.uk/guidelines/fulltext/50/index.html). More information on accreditation can be viewed at www.evidence.nhs.uk

Healthcare Improvement Scotland (HIS) is committed to equality and diversity and assesses all its publications for likely impact on the six equality groups defined by age, disability, gender, race, religion/belief and sexual orientation.

SIGN guidelines are produced using a standard methodology that has been **equality impact assessed** to ensure that these equality aims are addressed in every guideline. This methodology is set out in the current version of SIGN 50, our guideline manual, which can be found at **www.sign.ac.uk/guidelines/fulltext/50/index.html**. The EQIA assessment of the manual can be seen at **www.sign.ac.uk/pdf/sign50eqia.pdf**. The full report in paper form and/or alternative format is available on request from the Healthcare Improvement Scotland Equality and Diversity Officer.

Every care is taken to ensure that this publication is correct in every detail at the time of publication. However, in the event of errors or omissions corrections will be published in the web version of this document, which is the definitive version at all times. This version can be found on our web site **www.sign.ac.uk**.



Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network

Management of epithelial ovarian cancer

A national clinical guideline



Revised October 2018

Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network Gyle Square, 1 South Gyle Crescent Edinburgh EH12 9EB

www.sign.ac.uk

First published November 2013 Updated October 2018

ISBN 978 1 909103 15 3

Citation text

Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN). Management of epithelial ovarian cancer. Edinburgh: SIGN; 2013. (SIGN publication no. 135). [November 2013]. Available from URL: http://www.sign.ac.uk

Contents

1	Introduction	.1
1.1	The need for a guideline	. 1
1.2	Remit of the guideline	.2
1.3	Definitions	.2
1.4	Statement of intent	.2
2	Key recommendations	.4
2.1	Screening and the role of prophylactic salpingo-oophorectomy	.4
2.2	Diagnosis	.4
2.3	Surgical management	.4
2.4	Chemotherapy	.5
2.5	Follow up	.5
3	Screening and the role of prophylactic salpingo-oophorectomy	.6
3.1	Screening for ovarian cancer in the general population	.6
3.2	Identifying women at high risk of developing ovarian cancer	.6
3.3	Screening high risk groups	.8
3.4	Prophylactic salpingo-oophorectomy	.8
4	Diagnosis	.10
4.1	Primary care	.10
4.2	Secondary care	.12
4.3	The role of the clinical nurse specialist	.15
5	Surgical management	.16
5.1	Preparation for surgery	.16
5.2	Pathology	.16
5.3	Management of early disease	.17
5.4	Optimal surgery for advanced disease	.20
5.5	Relapsed disease	.21
6	Chemotherapy	.23
6.1	Early disease	.23
6.2	Advanced disease	.24
6.3	Relapsed disease	.28
6.4	Chemotherapy for low-grade serous, clear cell and mucinous histological subtypes	.31
7	Follow up	.32
8	Management of malignant bowel obstruction in relapsed disease	.33
8.1	Surgical management	. 33
8.2	Non-surgical management	. 34
9	Provision of information	.35
9.1	Checklist for provision of information	. 35
9.2	Sources of further information	. 37

10	Implementing the guideline	40	
10.1	Implementation strategy	40	
10.2	Resource implications of key recommendations	40	
10.3	Auditing current practice	40	
10.4	Additional advice to NHSScotland from Healthcare Improvement Scotland and the Scottish Medicines Consortium	41	
11	The evidence base	42	
11.1	Systematic literature review	42	
11.2	Recommendations for research		
11.3	Review and updating		
12	Development of the guideline	43	
12.1	Introduction		
12.2	The guideline development group		
12.3	Consultation and peer review	44	
Abbre	viations	46	
	Annexes		
Refere	References		

1 Introduction

1.1 THE NEED FOR A GUIDELINE

Ovarian cancer was the sixth most frequently diagnosed cancer in women in Scotland in 2011, representing 3.7% of all newly diagnosed cancers, and 583 new cases in 2011. Overall incidence has, however, fallen by 10.1% during the 10 years to 2011 (p=0.0009).¹ Ovarian cancer occurs as either an epithelial or a non-epithelial tumour. Epithelial tumours account for over 90% of all ovarian cancers and are the focus of this guideline.²

The disease is rare in girls and in women under the age of 30 years, with incidence increasing with age.³ The aetiology of the disease is unknown. It is more common in nulliparous women, and epidemiological studies have shown a significant reduction in ovarian cancer risk in women who have used the oral contraceptive pill.⁴ Most cases of epithelial ovarian cancer are sporadic, occurring in individuals with no family history of the disease. Among women in Scotland with no family history the lifetime risk of developing ovarian cancer is estimated to be 1 in 55.¹ In 5% to 10% of women with the disease, an inherited predisposition is a major contributory cause.⁵

For the majority of women with epithelial ovarian cancer standard therapy consists of a combination of surgery and chemotherapy. Survival is dependent on the stage of cancer at initial presentation (*see Annex 2*).

Although epithelial ovarian cancer has been described as a 'silent killer', because in over 60% of cases advanced disease is found at initial diagnosis,⁶ recent evidence has shown that many women report abdominal symptoms to their general practitioner (GP) in the year preceding diagnosis (*see section 4.1.1*).

In Scotland the overall five year survival rate improved from 25.7% among patients diagnosed in 1983-87 to 37.8% among patients diagnosed in 2003-2007⁷ and mortality fell by 13.6% in the 10 years to 2011 (p=0.007).¹ In 2011, 363 women in Scotland died from the disease.¹

Treatment is not usually curative. A typical patient will develop relapsed disease requiring repeated courses of chemotherapy. Relapsed disease is invariably fatal and its diagnosis has a huge impact on patients and their carers. The absence of a recognisable preventable cause and of any effective screening programme means that prospects for improving survival lie with earlier diagnosis and optimal management after initial presentation. The goal for healthcare professionals must be to ensure that where cure is not possible a woman can have a good quality of life with judicious use of surgery and chemotherapy.

1.1.1 UPDATING THE EVIDENCE

This guideline updates SIGN 75, published in October 2003, to reflect the most recent evidence. The key questions addressed in this update are listed in Annex 1.

Where no new evidence was identified to support an update, text and recommendations are reproduced verbatim from SIGN 75. The original supporting evidence was not re-appraised by the current guideline development group.

1.2 REMIT OF THE GUIDELINE

1.2.1 OVERALL OBJECTIVES

This guideline provides recommendations based on current evidence for best practice in the management of epithelial ovarian cancer. It excludes the management of borderline tumours.

1.2.2 TARGET USERS OF THE GUIDELINE

This guideline will be of interest to primary care staff, medical and clinical oncologists, gynaecologists, specialist nurses, community nurses, allied health professionals, geneticists, pathologists, specialists in laboratory medicine, pharmacists, radiologists, and palliative care specialists.

1.2.3 SUMMARY OF UPDATES TO THE GUIDELINE, BY SECTION

1	Introduction	Updated
2	Key recommendations	New
3	Screening and the role of prophylactic salpingo-oophorectomy	Completely revised
4	Diagnosis	Completely revised
5	Surgical management	Completely revised
6	Chemotherapy	Completely revised
7	Follow up	Completely revised
8	Management of malignant bowel obstruction in relapsed disease	Unchanged
9	Provision of information	Completely revised
10	Implementing the guideline	Completely revised
11	The evidence base	New
Annex 1	Key questions addressed in this update	New
Annex 2	Staging carcinoma of the ovary	Unchanged
Annex 3	Classification of ovarian cancer	Completely revised

Sections 7 (clinical trials) and 9 (specialist palliative care) in SIGN 75 have been removed from this version of the guideline because these are generic topics not specific to the management of epithelial ovarian cancer. Information on resource implications of recommendations, previously in Annex 3, is now in section 10.2.

1.3 DEFINITIONS

The International Federation of Gynaecology and Obstetrics (FIGO) staging system used throughout this guideline is given in Annex 2.⁸ The histological classification of ovarian cancer is given in Annex 3.

1.4 STATEMENT OF INTENT

This guideline is not intended to be construed or to serve as a standard of care. Standards of care are determined on the basis of all clinical data available for an individual case and are subject to change as scientific knowledge and technology advance and patterns of care evolve. Adherence to guideline recommendations will not ensure a successful outcome in every case, nor should they be construed as including all proper methods of care or excluding other acceptable methods of care aimed at the same results. The ultimate judgement must be made by the appropriate healthcare professional(s) responsible for clinical decisions regarding a particular clinical procedure or treatment plan. This judgement should only be arrived at following discussion of the options with the patient, covering the diagnostic and treatment choices available. It is advised, however, that significant departures from the national guideline or any local guidelines derived from it should be fully documented in the patient's case notes at the time the relevant decision is taken.

1.4.1 PRESCRIBING OF LICENSED MEDICINES OUTWITH THEIR MARKETING AUTHORISATION

Recommendations within this guideline are based on the best clinical evidence. Some recommendations may be for medicines prescribed outwith the marketing authorisation (MA) also known as product licence. This is known as 'off label' use.

Medicines may be prescribed off label in the following circumstances:

- for an indication not specified within the marketing authorisation
- for administration via a different route
- for administration of a different dose
- for a different patient population.

An unlicensed medicine is a medicine which does not have MA for medicinal use in humans.

Generally the off label use of medicines becomes necessary if the clinical need cannot be met by licensed medicines within the marketing authorisation. Such use should be supported by appropriate evidence and experience.

"Prescribing medicines outside the conditions of their marketing authorisation alters (and probably increases) the prescribers' professional responsibility and potential liability."9

The General Medical Council (GMC) recommends that when prescribing a medicine off label, doctors should:

- be satisfied that such use would better serve the patient's needs than an authorised alternative (if one exists)
- be satisfied that there is sufficient evidence/experience of using the medicines to show its safety and efficacy, seeking the necessary information from appropriate sources
- record in the patient's clinical notes the medicine prescribed and, when not following common practice, the reasons for the choice
- take responsibility for prescribing the medicine and for overseeing the patient's care, including monitoring the effects of the medicine.

Non-medical prescribers should ensure that they are familiar with the legislative framework and their own professional prescribing standards.

Prior to any prescribing, the licensing status of a medication should be checked in the current version of the British National Formulary (BNF).⁹ The prescriber must be competent, operate within the professional code of ethics of their statutory bodies and the prescribing practices of their employers.¹⁰

1.4.2 ADDITIONAL ADVICE TO NHSSCOTLAND FROM HEALTHCARE IMPROVEMENT SCOTLAND AND THE SCOTTISH MEDICINES CONSORTIUM

Healthcare Improvement Scotland processes multiple technology appraisals (MTAs) for NHSScotland that have been produced by the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) in England and Wales.

The Scottish Medicines Consortium (SMC) provides advice to NHS Boards and their Area Drug and Therapeutics Committees about the status of all newly licensed medicines and any major new indications for established products.

SMC advice relevant to this guideline is summarised in section 10.4.

2 Key recommendations

The following recommendations were highlighted by the guideline development group as the key clinical recommendations that should be prioritised for implementation. The grade of recommendation relates to the strength of the supporting evidence on which the recommendation is based. It does not reflect the clinical importance of the recommendation.

2.1 SCREENING AND THE ROLE OF PROPHYLACTIC SALPINGO-OOPHORECTOMY

- D All women with non-mucinous ovarian or fallopian tube cancer should be offered *BRCA1* and *BRCA2* mutation testing.
- D Screening for ovarian cancer in high risk groups should only be offered in the context of a research study.
- ✓ Women with a family history that appears to place them at high risk of developing ovarian cancer should be offered referral to a Clinical Genetics Service for assessment, confirmation of family history and consideration of genetic testing of an affected family member.

2.2 DIAGNOSIS

- C In women presenting in general gractice with one or more symptoms of abdominal distension or bloating with or without abdominal pain, feeling full quickly, difficulty eating, or urinary symptoms, of less than 12 months duration and occurring more than 12 times per month a diagnosis of ovarian cancer should be considered.
- D CA125 blood serum level should be measured and urgent pelvic ultrasound carried out in women with persistent abdominal distension or feeling full and/or loss of appetite or pelvic or abdominal pain or increased urinary urgency and/or frequency (particularly if occurring more than 12 times per month and especially if she is over 50).

If symptoms persist or worsen despite a normal CA125 blood serum level and a negative ultrasound scan, refer to secondary care.

- B Computed tomography of the abdomen and pelvis should be performed in secondary care for all patients suspected of having ovarian cancer who have a Risk of Malignancy Index score greater than 200.
- D Throughout their care pathway patients with ovarian cancer should have access to a clinical nurse specialist who should be an integral member of the gynaecological cancer team.

2.3 SURGICAL MANAGEMENT

- A The use of neoadjuvant chemotherapy in women with stage IIIc or IV ovarian cancer may be considered as an alternative to primary debulking surgery.
- ✓ With regard to selecting who will benefit from neoadjuvant chemotherapy, treatment should be individualised to the patient taking into account resectability, age, histology, performance status and after ruling out the possibility of other primary tumours, and after full discussion at multidisciplinary team meetings.

2.4 CHEMOTHERAPY

- B All women with high-grade early stage (Ia-Ib) ovarian cancer should be considered for adjuvant chemotherapy.
- Patients with low-grade serous, clear cell and mucinous histological subtypes should be considered for clinical trials.

2.5 FOLLOW UP

In the absence of symptoms, routine measurement of CA125 during follow up is not mandatory.

3 Screening and the role of prophylactic salpingooophorectomy

3.1 SCREENING FOR OVARIAN CANCER IN THE GENERAL POPULATION

A large randomised controlled trial (RCT) of 78,216 women aged 55 to 74 in the United States demonstrated that testing for CA125 blood serum level combined with transvaginal ultrasound (TVUS) conferred no benefit in screening for ovarian cancer in the general population compared to usual care.¹¹ In this study, ovarian cancer was diagnosed in 212 women (5.7 per 10,000 person-years) in the intervention group and 176 (4.7 per 10,000 person-years) in the usual care group (rate ratio 1.21, 95% confidence interval (Cl) 0.99 to 1.48). There were 118 deaths from ovarian cancer in the intervention group (3.1 per 10,000 person years) and 100 deaths (2.6 per 10,000 person-years) in the usual care group (mortality risk ratio (RR) 1.18, 95% Cl 0.82 to 1.71).

1++

A current UK RCT (the UK Collaborative Trial of Ovarian Cancer Screening - UKCTOCS) designed to assess the effect of screening on mortality is expected to report in 2015. The results of the prevalence (initial) screen in UKCTOCS of 202,638 postmenopausal women aged 50-74 randomly assigned to no treatment, or annual CA125 screening with transvaginal ultrasound scan as a second line test, or transvaginal ultrasound alone, published in 2009, established that the screening strategies are feasible.¹² As yet, no clear benefit of such screening has been demonstrated.

Screening the high risk population is discussed in section 3.3.

A Screening for ovarian cancer in the general population should not be performed outwith the research setting.

3.2 IDENTIFYING WOMEN AT HIGH RISK OF DEVELOPING OVARIAN CANCER

3.2.1 DEFINING HIGH RISK GROUPS USING FAMILY HISTORY

Family history can be used to define women who are at increased risk of ovarian cancer.¹³ A woman is defined as being at high risk of ovarian cancer if she meets one of the following criteria:

- she is a known carrier of relevant cancer gene mutations including BRCA1, BRCA2, mismatch repair genes
- she is an untested first degree relative of an individual with a mutation in *BRCA1*, *BRCA2*, *RAD51C*, *RAD51D* or mismatch repair genes
- she is an untested second degree relative, through an unaffected man, of an individual with a mutation in *BRCA1*, *BRCA2*, *RAD51C*, *RAD51D* or mismatch repair genes
- she has a first degree relative (mother, father, sister, brother, daughter or son) affected by cancer within a family that meets one of the following criteria:
 - two or more individuals with ovarian cancer, who are first degree relatives of each other
 - one individual with ovarian cancer at any age, and one with breast cancer diagnosed under age 50 years, who are first degree relatives of each other
 - one relative with ovarian cancer at any age, and two with breast cancer diagnosed under 60 years, who are connected by first degree relationships
 - three or more family members with colon cancer, or two with colon cancer and one with stomach, ovarian, endometrial, urinary tract or small bowel cancer in two generations. One of these cancers must be diagnosed under age 50 years and affected relatives should be first degree relatives of each other
 - one individual with both breast and ovarian cancer.

Individuals meeting the above criteria may be eligible for referral for prophylactic salpingo-oophorectomy by age 40 and breast screening or, in some, prophylactic mastectomy.^{14,15}

 Women with a family history that appears to place them at high risk of developing ovarian cancer should be offered referral to a Clinical Genetics Service for assessment, confirmation of family history and consideration of genetic testing of an affected family member.

3.2.2 DEFINING HIGH RISK GROUPS USING GENETIC TESTING

A high risk of ovarian cancer is associated with mutation in the tumour suppressor genes *BRCA1* and *BRCA2*, in the mismatch repair genes associated with Hereditary Nonpolyposis Colorectal Cancer (HNCC) families, and rarely, in *RAD51C* and *RAD51D*.^{16,17} Mutation in the *BRCA1* or *BRCA2* gene is estimated to confer a lifetime risk of ovarian cancer of 24-40% and 8-18%, respectively. *BRCA1* and *BRCA2* female mutation carriers also have an increased risk of fallopian tube and breast cancer. *BRCA1* and *BRCA2* mutations are pancreatic cancer, gall bladder/bile duct cancer, stomach cancer and melanoma.¹⁸⁻²¹ The mismatch repair genes confer an increased lifetime risk of ovarian cancer of approximately 9-12% in addition to an increased risk of endometrial cancer.²²

A systematic review has indicated that genetic testing is cost effective and should be performed in a clinical genetics setting in families with ovarian and/or breast cancer where the combined risk of *BRCA1* and *BRCA2* mutation exceeds 10%.²³ This is equivalent to a Manchester score of 15 or more.²⁴

A number of studies have shown that women with non-mucinous ovarian cancer, unselected for family history, have an overall increased *BRCA1* or *BRCA2* mutation detection rate of between 6.2% and 17.5%.^{20,25-29} The detection rate in women with non-mucinous ovarian cancer with no family history of ovarian or breast cancer is lower, ranging from 3.5% to 9%.^{27,28} Only one study reviewed did not detect a mutation in women with no family history.²⁶ Overall, testing in cases of non-mucinous ovarian cancer is justified for the benefit of the family, even in women with no family history of breast or ovarian cancer.

In the four studies that included women with mucinous tumours, no *BRCA1* or *BRCA2* mutations were identified.^{20, 26-28}

Molecular assessment for Lynch syndrome should be considered in the most appropriate affected individuals from families that meet the modified Amsterdam criteria.³⁰

One study of 108 women with carcinoma of the fallopian tube in two centres in the USA and Canada showed that 30.6% of the women had *BRCA* mutations, 23 (21.3%) in *BRCA1* and 10 (9.3%) in *BRCA2*. The rate was higher in those diagnosed before age 60 (40.3%) than in those diagnosed at 60 years or older (17.4%).³¹

- D All women with non-mucinous ovarian or fallopian tube cancer should be offered *BRCA1* and *BRCA2* mutation testing.
- D Women with ovarian cancer who have a family history of breast, ovarian or colon cancer should have a genetic risk assessment.
- D BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutation analysis should be considered in a family where there is a 10% or greater risk of a mutation being present.

3.2.3 REFERRAL TO CANCER GENETICS

General practitioners benefit from expert support from a specialist genetics service.³² Highest demand and utilisation of familial cancer services relates to breast and/or ovarian cancer.³³

Guidance from the Scottish Executive in 2001 provided information on risk stratification, counselling and management of patients with a family or personal history of cancer that might predispose them to breast, ovarian or colorectal cancer. The guidance included a referral pathway that indicated that those suspected as being at medium or high risk should be referred to genetic services for a detailed risk assessment.¹⁴ Further guidance, issued in January 2009, confirmed that the 2001 guidance relating to ovarian cancer remained extant.¹⁵

4

3

2⁺ 3 Close collaboration between primary care and specialist cancer genetics services is to be encouraged so that genetic cancer risk assessment in individuals who are at medium or high risk can be carried out efficiently.

3.3 SCREENING HIGH RISK GROUPS

One systematic review and three small cohort studies suggest that pre-symptomatic screening by grey scale ultrasound (with or without Doppler), CA125 blood serum level (*see section 4.1.2*), pelvic examination or combinations of these, are not effective in detecting tumours at an early stage (*see Annex 2*).³⁴⁻³⁷ No clear evidence was identified as to whether screening in high risk groups has an impact on mortality from ovarian cancer. Two large scale studies addressing this issue (the UK Familial Ovarian Cancer Screening Study, and the Prostate, Lung, Colorectal and Ovarian Cancer Screening Trial in the USA) are still to report.

| 1⁺ 3

2++



Screening for ovarian cancer in high risk groups should only be offered in the context of a research study.

3.4 PROPHYLACTIC SALPINGO-OOPHORECTOMY

Women identified as being at high risk of ovarian cancer can be offered prophylactic salpingo-oophorectomy. The decision whether or not to proceed to prophylactic salpingo-oophorectomy is influenced by the fact that most women at increased risk of ovarian cancer are also at increased risk of breast cancer and there is evidence that oophorectomy reduces breast cancer risk in these cases.³⁸

Two large cohort studies confirm the benefits of prophylactic salpingo-oophorectomy for carriers of *BRCA1* or *BRCA2* mutations. Risk reduction for ovarian cancer is 96% and for breast cancer is 53% if surgery is carried out pre-menopausally.³⁹ The risk of primary peritoneal carcinoma is reduced to between 0.1%³⁹ and 0.5%³⁸ per year. This is considerably less than the lifetime risk of ovarian cancer for those who retain their ovaries. This benefit is not affected by giving hormone replacement therapy (HRT) to women whose ovaries are removed before the natural menopause.

Studies have shown that 2.3% of patients undergoing prophylactic salpingo-oophorectomy had previously 2⁺⁺ unsuspected early stage ovarian cancer.^{37,38} 3

Ovarian cancer is rare in *BRCA1* carriers under age 40 and *BRCA2* carriers under age 50, affecting 2-3% of women in these groups. However, 26-34% of female *BRCA2* carriers will develop breast cancer by age 50. As risk reducing bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy before age 40 provides the greatest reduction in breast cancer risk,⁴⁰ optimal timing is considered to be between the ages of 35-40 years and after childbearing is complete.



Women with genetic mutations of *BRCA1* or *BRCA2* genes should be offered prophylactic oophorectomy and removal of fallopian tubes at a relevant time in their life.

Women at high risk in whom mutations have not been identified should have the opportunity to discuss the advantages and disadvantages of prophylactic salpingo-oophorectomy.



3.4.1 FERTILITY CONSERVATION

The possibility of preserving fertility in women at high risk of ovarian cancer, for example those who are *BRCA* mutation carriers, by undertaking bilateral salpingectomy (BS) followed by oophorectomy at a later stage has been considered.^{41,42} However, no studies were identified that adequately assessed the impact of BS with retention of ovaries on the incidence of ovarian cancer. Therefore, BS alone cannot be recommended in a population at high risk of ovarian cancer (*see section 5.3.4 on fertility conserving surgery*).

3.4.2 QUALITY OF LIFE ISSUES

One qualitative study, one retrospective case control study and one cohort study looking at quality of life issues were identified.⁴³⁻⁴⁵ Two of the studies report that women with *BRCA1* or *BRCA2* mutations regard prophylactic salpingo-oophorectomy as an acceptable option for ovarian cancer risk reduction.^{43,45} The cohort study found that these patients do not expect prophylactic salpingo-oophorectomy to impair their quality of life.⁴⁵ The qualitative study found that women with *BRCA1* or *BRCA2* mutations have strong opinions regarding the costs and benefits of prophylactic salpingo-oophorectomy and that they would like more information about the physical and emotional after-effects of prophylactic salpingo-oophorectomy both before, and after, surgery.⁴³

The retrospective case control study investigated women who had chosen prophylactic salpingooophorectomy instead of prolonged screening and suggested that these women may have more physical and emotional symptoms than women who remain on an ovarian cancer screening programme but that they report equivalent levels of cancer worry.⁴⁴

The studies identified highlight the importance of counselling, support and information for women making a decision about prophylactic salpingo-oophorectomy. There is insufficient evidence to make a recommendation.

Women who decide to have prophylactic salpingo-oophorectomy should be offered counselling, support and information before and after surgery.



4 Diagnosis

4.1 PRIMARY CARE

4.1.1 SIGNS AND SYMPTOMS

Retrospective studies show that women with ovarian cancer present with non-specific symptoms including abdominal pain and bloating, changes in bowel habit, urinary and/or pelvic symptoms.⁴⁶⁻⁴⁸ Cachexia is uncommon and women with advanced disease often look surprisingly well. Most women with ovarian cancer are diagnosed when they already have advanced disease. On average, a GP will see only one new case every five years.⁴⁹ Patients who present with non-specific gastrointestinal symptoms may be misdiagnosed as suffering from irritable bowel syndrome.

A systematic review and six observational studies,⁵⁰⁻⁵⁶ two of which were UK based,^{55,56} looked at symptoms in women with ovarian cancer, the findings of which are generalisable to Scotland. The studies consistently reported that ovarian cancer is not an asymptomatic condition, with only 5-10% of women being asymptomatic. All studies identified abdominal distension/bloating as the most important symptom together with abdominal/pelvic pain, feeling full quickly or difficulty eating. Other symptoms found by some studies to be associated with ovarian cancer were postmenopausal bleeding, rectal bleeding, urinary symptoms and weight loss.

The systematic review included 21 studies of varying quality, three of which were case control studies and the remainder cohort studies.⁵⁰ Fourteen studies took symptoms directly from patients (10 using symptom checklists) and seven took symptoms from medical records. Data collection was retrospective in 20 of the studies, varying from two weeks to 12 years after diagnosis. The most frequently reported symptoms (reported by at least 50% of respondents) were abdominal pain or discomfort, abdominal bloating and abdominal swelling.

A case control study from the USA based on anonymous self reporting of symptoms by 128 ovarian cancer patients and 1,709 women seeking care in primary care clinics (control group) showed that women with ovarian cancer were significantly more likely than the control group to have increased abdominal size (odds ratio (OR) 7.4, 95% CI 3.8 to 14.2), bloating (OR 3.6, 95% CI 1.8 to 7.0), urinary urgency (OR 2.5, 95% CI 1.3 to 4.8), difficulty eating (OR 2.5, 95% CI 1.3 to 5.0), abdominal pain (OR 2.3, 95% CI 1.2 to 2.4) and pelvic pain (OR 2.2, 95% CI 1.2 to 3.9).⁵⁴ Women with malignant masses typically experienced symptoms 20-30 times per month and had significantly more symptoms of higher severity and more recent onset than women with benign masses or women in the control group. They also had a shorter median duration of symptoms (6 months or less compared with 12-24 months for the other two groups).

A further case control study from the USA of 102 cases and 102 controls (matched for age, length of "membership of healthcare programme", and location of primary care facility) with a mean age of 58, undertook a structured review of medical records and symptoms recorded during the two years prior to diagnosis. However, the reviewer was not blinded to the status of each patient. The study looked at likelihood ratios (for symptoms with a statistically significant excess in cases) and found that none exceeded chance expectation in the 33 cases with stage Ia and Ib disease but that there was an excess among the 69 patients with stage Ic-IV disease, particularly for symptoms recorded in the six months prior to diagnosis. Symptoms reported by the cases were predominantly abdominal and gastrointestinal.⁵²

2⁺ 2⁻ 3

2++

2+

2+

2+

2++ 2+

2+

2++

Three studies were identified that attempted to predict the risk of ovarian cancer based on specific combinations of signs and symptoms.^{53,55,56} In a case control study from the USA, 149 women with ovarian cancer and 488 women at high risk of having or developing ovarian cancer (referred for ultrasound or taking part in a screening programme) completed a symptom survey either preoperatively or pre-ultrasound, rating severity, frequency and duration of 23 symptoms. Logistic regression was used to find a model that predicted ovarian cancer, with the greatest sensitivity being for a model including pelvic/abdominal pain, increased abdominal size/bloating, feeling full/difficult eating for <12 months and >12 times per month. The sensitivity for identifying early stage disease was 56.7% and for advanced disease 79.5%, with specificities ranging from 86-90%.⁵³ This has become known as the Goff Index. There are, however, concerns about the comparability of the cases and controls and the fact that the controls were drawn from a high risk population.

A retrospective cohort study comprising a derivation cohort of 1,158,723 women and a validation cohort of 608,862 women aged 30 to 84 and registered with GP practices in England and Wales was used to derive and validate an algorithm for identifying women with suspected ovarian cancer in primary care.⁵⁶ The outcome was diagnosis of ovarian cancer in the two years after study entry. The biggest independent predictors were abdominal distension, family history of ovarian cancer and abdominal pain (hazard ratios (HR), 23.1, 9.8 and 7.0, respectively). The algorithm showed that the 10% of women with the highest predicted risks contained 63% of all ovarian cancers diagnosed over the next two years.

In a further UK based study of 212 women diagnosed with ovarian cancer in 2000-2007, and 1,060 controls (5 per case) comprising women aged 40 years and older from 39 GP practices in Devon, patient case notes were searched for symptoms recorded in the year before diagnosis. Symptoms were coded by three researchers blinded to diagnosis. Multivariate analysis showed that seven symptoms were independently associated with ovarian cancer: abdominal distension (positive predictive value (PPV) 2.5%, 95% CI 1.2 to 5.9; OR 240, 95% CI 46 to 1200), postmenopausal bleeding (PPV 0.5%, 95% CI 0.2 to 0.9; OR 24, 95% CI 9.3 to 64), loss of appetite (PPV 0.6%, 95% CI 0.3 to 1.0; OR 17, 95% CI 6.1 to 50), increased urinary frequency (PPV 0.2%, 95% CI 0.1 to 0.3; OR 16, 95% CI 5.6 to 48) abdominal pain (PPV 0.3%, 95% CI 0.2 to 0.3; OR 12, 95% CI 6.1 to 22), rectal bleeding (PPV 0.2, 95% CI 0.1 to 0.4; OR 7.6, 95% CI 2.5 to 23) and abdominal bloating (PPV 0.3, 95% CI 0.2 to 0.6; OR 5.3, 95% CI 1.8 to 16). In 181 (85%) of cases and 164 (15%) of controls, at least one of these seven symptoms was reported to primary care before diagnosis. After excluding symptoms reported in the 180 days before diagnosis, abdominal distension, urinary frequency and abdominal pain remained independently associated with a diagnosis of ovarian cancer.⁵⁵ Limitations of this study include its case control design, with its inherent potential for systematic differences between cases and controls, and the reliance on GP recording of symptoms which is often incomplete.

A further large, population based study in the USA of 2,125 women (812 cases aged 35-74 with primary invasive or borderline epithelial ovarian cancer, and 1,313 population-based controls with at least one ovary and no history of ovarian cancer) assessed symptoms (pelvic or abdominal pain or bloating, feeling full, urinary urgency or frequency) using the Goff index (considered positive when symptoms were present at least daily for at least one week, with an onset of less than 12 months before diagnosis or reference date), or the American Cancer Society consensus recommendations (fulfilled when symptoms were present for at least one month, with onset of less than 12 months before diagnosis or reference date). The study concluded that the use of symptoms to trigger medical evaluation for ovarian cancer is likely to result in diagnosis of the disease in only one of 100 women in the general population with such symptoms.⁵⁷ Symptoms appeared in most cases within five months of diagnosis. Women with early-stage ovarian cancer were somewhat less likely to have symptoms was 0.6-1.1% overall and less than 0.5% for early-stage disease. Recall bias was likely as patient interviews to determine symptoms took place nine months after diagnosis for cases and 10 months after reference date for controls.

Identification of symptoms at an early stage could lead to earlier detection of ovarian cancer and avoid investigation of women who do not have the condition. It is possible that identification and dissemination of the specific symptoms could increase the number of urgent referrals putting pressure on tertiary investigative services and this would need to be addressed.

2+

One descriptive study examined the impact of delayed referral from primary care on survival. Delay in referral was not found to be a frequent occurrence and did not impact on survival.58



In women presenting in general practice with one or more symptoms of abdominal distension or bloating with or without abdominal pain, feeling full quickly, difficulty eating, or urinary symptoms, of less than 12 months duration and occurring more than 12 times per month a diagnosis of ovarian cancer should be considered.

INVESTIGATIONS IN PRIMARY CARE 4.1.2

Measurement of CA125 in blood serum is the test most widely used to detect ovarian cancer. CA125 is a glycoprotein and elevated concentrations of CA125 are associated with malignant tumours of the pancreas, breast, lung, colon and ovary.⁵⁹ Menstruation and benign conditions such as endometriosis, pelvic inflammatory disease and liver disease can also be associated with elevated concentrations of CA125.⁶⁰ CA125 may also be elevated in women with ascites, pleural or pericardial effusions and in women who have 4 had a recent laparotomy.61

4

3

Approximately 80% of patients with advanced ovarian cancer have elevated concentrations of CA125 in the blood serum. However, no more than 50% of patients with clinically detectable stage I disease have elevated CA125 levels.62

Recent guidance from NICE recommends that a woman who presents to her GP with symptoms of persistent abdominal distension or feeling full and/or loss of appetite or pelvic or abdominal pain or increased urinary urgency and/or frequency (particularly if occurring more than 12 times per month and especially if she is over 50) should have their CA125 level measured and if it is \geq 35 IU/ml should have an ultrasound of the abdomen and pelvis. NICE also recommends that women over 50 with symptoms within the last 12 months suggestive of irritable bowel syndrome, and women with any of unexplained weight loss, fatigue or changes in bowel habit in whom ovarian cancer is suspected, should have their CA125 level measured.⁶³

CA125 blood serum level should be measured and urgent pelvic ultrasound carried out in women with persistent abdominal distension or feeling full and/or loss of appetite or pelvic or abdominal pain or increased urinary urgency and/or frequency (particularly if occurring more than 12 times per month and especially if she is over 50).

If symptoms persist or worsen despite a normal CA125 blood serum level and a negative ultrasound scan, refer to secondary care.

4.2 SECONDARY CARE

4.2.1 **RISK OF MALIGNANCY INDEX**

There are two scoring systems for assessing malignancy risk, the Risk of Malignancy Index 1 (RMI 1) and the Risk of Malignancy Index 2 (RMI 2), each of which calculates scores using ultrasound features, menopausal status and preoperative CA125 level according to the equation:

RMI score = ultrasound score x menopausal score x CA125 level in U/ml.

The original RMI 1 scoring system and the revised RMI 2 system are both outlined in Table 1.^{64,65} The RMI 2 score gives greater weight to the ultrasound findings and menopausal status than the RMI 1 score.

2++

Feature	RMI 1 Score	RMI 2 Score		
Ultrasound features:	0 = none	0 = none		
multilocular cyst	1 = one abnormality	1 = one abnormality		
solid areas	3 = two or more abnormalities	4 = two or more abnormalities		
bilateral lesions				
• ascites				
intra-abdominal metastases				
Premenopausal	1	1		
Postmenopausal	3	4		
CA125	U/ml	U/ml		
RMI score = ultrasound score x menopausal score x CA125 level in U/ml				

Table 1: The risk of malignancy index (RMI) scoring system

A good quality systematic review showed that the RMI 1 was the most accurate scoring system studied with estimated pooled sensitivity and specificity using a threshold of >200, as originally proposed by Jacobs et al (1990),⁶⁴ to indicate malignancy of 78% (95% Cl 71 to 85%) and 87% (95% Cl 83 to 91%), respectively.⁶⁶ A more recent, good quality, systematic review including four meta-analyses and 53 primary diagnostic accuracy studies showed a similar pooled sensitivity and specificity of RMI 1 of 79.2% (95% Cl 73.6 to 83.9) and 91.7% (95% Cl 87.2 to 94.6), respectively, using the threshold score of 200.⁶⁷ This review also demonstrated that whilst RMI 2 has near identical pooled sensitivity of 79% (95% Cl 71 to 87%) to RMI 1, it has a lower specificity of 81% (95% Cl 72 to 90%), also using a threshold of 200, and has been validated in fewer studies.

Several smaller diagnostic studies investigating which RMI scoring systems (including RMI 1, RMI 2 and the newer RMI 3 and RMI 4) perform best have shown mixed results,⁶⁸⁻⁷⁰ supporting the view that explicit scoring 2⁺ systems are broadly similar in diagnostic competence.

It has been suggested that RMI and other explicit scoring systems may be less sensitive than ultrasound morphological scores, but are more specific. Other morphological scoring systems are being developed that may supersede RMI 1, but these require more extensive external validation and may be more complicated to use in practice.⁶⁷

A RMI 1 score can only be attained if the ultrasound report is explicit in describing the features used in its calculation. A locally agreed standardised report for the description of pelvic masses is therefore recommended.

Risk of Malignancy Index 1 score with threshold of 200 should be used to predict the likelihood of ovarian cancer. Patients with an RMI 1 score greater than 200 should be referred to a gynaecology-oncology multidisciplinary team.

- ✓ In order to allow the calculation of RMI 1, ultrasound reports should list the presence or absence of the features that make up the ultrasound component of this scoring system.
- ✓ Although an RMI 1 threshold of 200 is recommended, benign conditions may cause elevation of the RMI score and early malignancy may not.

4.2.2 FURTHER RADIOLOGICAL IMAGING

Although the FIGO staging system for gynaecological malignancies is a surgical-pathological staging system, the incorporation of radiological investigation is necessary in optimising patient management.

When ovarian malignancy is considered likely based on clinical assessment and an RMI 1 score greater than the threshold of 200, cross-sectional imaging in secondary care, in the form of a computed tomography (CT) scan of the abdomen and pelvis, is indicated to help assess the extent of disease and to help exclude alternative diagnoses.

Several recent systematic reviews on the diagnostic performance of magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) in characterising adnexal masses as malignant showed that CT and MRI are comparable.^{67,71-73} No systematic reviews were identified that addressed the performance of MRI on staging of ovarian cancer, and although there is evidence that it performs as well as CT,⁷⁴ there is no evidence that it is superior. Since MRI takes longer to perform, is more prone to artefact, has difficulty in giving high resolution coverage of the entire abdomen and pelvis, and is less readily available, its routine use in diagnosis or staging for ovarian cancer is not advocated, and CT is considered the preferred option.

MRI is, however, useful in diagnosing certain alternative benign pathologies (ie, fibroid disease, endometriosis, dermoid cysts) in women in whom ovarian malignancy is thought less likely, but who present with a pelvic mass. It should therefore be used for lesion characterisation if a pelvic mass is detected on physical examination or ultrasound, but the clinical likelihood of malignancy is thought to be low. MRI can also be used if there is a contraindication to contrast enhanced CT.

Evidence for the diagnostic ability and overall staging performance of positron emission tomographycomputed tomography (PET-CT) in the initial evaluation of ovarian cancer is limited, and confined to nonsystematic descriptive reviews.⁷⁵⁻⁷⁷ Two primary studies describe PET-CT performance in both characterisation of the primary lesion and staging,^{78,79} and one further primary study describes staging by PET-CT.⁸⁰

A meta-analysis of metastatic lymph node detection with CT, MRI, PET and PET-CT and a diagnostic accuracy study comparing CT and PET-CT for detection of supradiaphragmatic metastatic nodes were also found.^{81,82} Taken together, this evidence suggests that PET-CT or PET Contrast Enhanced CT may be more accurate than CT alone at characterising an adnexal mass as malignant, and may be more accurate in metastatic lymph node detection and overall staging. There is currently, however, insufficient evidence that these techniques give significant additional benefit over CT alone. In combination with the lack of availability of readily accessible PET-CT, this modality, at present, cannot be recommended in the initial staging of ovarian cancer.

There is a lack of evidence to advocate routine CT imaging of the entire thorax in all patients. Scanning of the abdomen and pelvis should, however, include the lung bases to allow assessment for the presence of pleural effusions and suspicious cardiophrenic lymph nodes. If intrathoracic disease is clinically suspected, however, CT of the throrax should be performed.

- B Computed tomography of the abdomen and pelvis should be performed in secondary care for all patients suspected of having ovarian cancer who have a Risk of Malignancy Index score greater than 200.
- D Magnetic resonance imaging is not recommended for routine staging of ovarian cancer.
- D Positron emission tomography-computed tomography is not recommended in the diagnosis or initial staging of ovarian cancer.
- ✓ Magnetic resonance imaging should be considered for characterisation of indeterminate adnexal masses where an alternative diagnosis to ovarian cancer is thought more likely.
- ✓ Computed tomography of the entire thorax is not routinely recommended unless intrathoracic metastatic disease is clinically suspected. Imaging of the abdomen and pelvis should, however, include the lung bases.

2++ 2+ 4

2++ 4

2+

4

4.3 THE ROLE OF THE CLINICAL NURSE SPECIALIST

D

An individual's cancer journey is complex, disjointed and involves interventions from various professionals who frequently are working in different hospitals. High quality and compassionate care that is properly planned and coordinated is needed. The clinical nurse specialist has a vital role in delivering this care. There is limited evidence on the role of the clinical nurse specialist (CNS) in the care of patients with ovarian cancer specifically, although evidence from studies relating to gynaecological and other cancers is considered relevant in this setting.⁸³⁻⁸⁷

The roles undertaken by the CNS are many and varied and include overseeing and coordinating services so that the cancer journey for individual patients is personalized, acting as the key advocate and accessible professional for the multidisciplinary team (MDT), and using their knowledge and experience to alleviate psychological suffering.⁸³ The provision of emotional support and coordination of care services that the CNS can provide helps to improve patients' awareness of clinical as well as practical issues which in turn helps to achieve positive patient outcomes.⁸⁴ The skills and expertise of the CNS are important to the MDT, and allow them to address complex and sensitive issues, such as sexual rehabilitation, with patients.⁸⁶

Involving the CNS in patient care has been shown to reduce the number of emergency admissions, the length of hospital stay, the number of follow-up appointments and the number of medical consultations.⁸⁴ A study of 70 women with a first time diagnosis of gynaecological cancer showed that CNS involvement at the time the patient receives their diagnosis can lead to a clinically significant reduction in the level of psychological distress in patients six months after diagnosis and can therefore enhance psychological recovery.⁸⁵ In this study, the CNSs were well utilised as a source of information although by 6 months post-diagnosis, when contact with the hospital and hospital-linked professional sources of information had decreased, the use of lay sources of information (for example, television, magazines) generally increased. The role of the CNS as a source of professional information was, however, maintained if the CNS kept in contact with the patient.⁸⁵

Research on the role of the CNS in prostate cancer care has demonstrated that patients who have been seen by a CNS have more positive experiences of receiving information about tests and treatment and about sources of advice and support and are more likely to say that they made their treatment decisions themselves.⁸⁷

The important role played by the CNS is also recognised in the NHS Quality Improvement Scotland clinical standards on the management of ovarian cancer services which state that a clinical nurse specialist in gynaecological oncology is part of the "...minimum constitution of the gynaecological cancer MDT."⁸⁸

- Patients should be given their diagnosis of ovarian cancer in the presence of a clinical nurse specialist who is a fully integrated member of the gynaecological cancer team.
 - Throughout their care pathway patients with ovarian cancer should have access to a clinical nurse specialist who should be an integral member of the gynaecological cancer team.

5 Surgical management

5.1 PREPARATION FOR SURGERY

5.1.1 VENOUS THROMBOEMBOLIC PROPHYLAXIS

Venous thromboembolic prophylaxis for patients undergoing gynaecological surgery is covered in SIGN 122: Prevention and management of venous thromboembolism.⁸⁹

5.1.2 ANTIBIOTIC PROPHYLAXIS

The benefits, principles and administration of antibiotic prophylaxis in surgery is covered in SIGN 104: Antibiotic prophylaxis in surgery.⁹⁰

5.2 PATHOLOGY

Pathological examination of ovarian and other tissues defines the nature of the tumour and its stage. Staging is performed by examining histological sections of tissue samples and cytological assessment of fluid samples. It is important to adequately sample the ovary using, as a minimum, a block of tissue for each centimetre of the maximum diameter of the tumour, unless there is obvious macroscopic evidence of carcinoma reported according to Royal College of Pathologists guidelines.⁹¹

5.2.1 INTRAOPERATIVE TECHNIQUES

Epithelial ovarian tumours display a spectrum of pathological changes. Tumours can be benign, borderline (low malignant potential or atypical proliferating lesions), or malignant (*see Annex 3*). Intraoperative frozen section histopathology can be used to confirm the presence of malignant disease but cannot precisely confirm borderline disease.⁹²⁻⁹⁵ A recent, high-quality systematic review including 18 retrospective cohort studies concluded that frozen section histopathology reliably distinguishes between benign and invasive tumours, but is less accurate for the distinction between benign and borderline tumours, and borderline and invasive tumours, particularly for clear cell and mucinous lesions, as shown in Table 2.⁹⁵

2++
2 +

4

4

Tumour type comparison	Sensitivity (95% Cl)	Specificity (95% Cl)	Value* (95% Cl)
Benign versus invasive	99.7	95.8	PPV: 97.9 (97.3 to 98.4)
	(99.4 to 99.9)	(94.6 to 96.8)	NPV: 99.5 (98.9 to 99.7)
			LR+: 23.99 (18.52 to 31.07)
			LR-: 0.003 (0.01 to 0.006)
Benign versus borderline	98.9	70.8	PPV: 94.9 (94.1 to 95.7)
	(98.5 to 99.3)	(66.5 to 74.7)	NPV: 92.3 (89.0 to 94.6)
			LR+: 3.384 (2.94 to 13.89)
			LR-: 0.015 (0.01 to 0.022)
Borderline versus invasive	93.6	93.1	PPV: 77.7 (73.5 to 87.4)
	(90.5 to 95.7)	(91.5 to 94.2)	NPV: 98.2 (97.3 to 98.8)
			LR+: 13.293 (10.94 to 16.15)
			LR-: 0.069 (0.047 to 0.103)
*PPV: positive predictive value NPV: negative predictive value		LR+: positive l	ikelihood ratio
		LR-: negative likelihood ratio	

Table 2: Comparison of sensitivity and specificity of frozen section for different tumour types

2++

A large study in the UK based on 1,439 intraoperative frozen section analyses for suspected ovarian cancer performed between 2000 and 2010, concluded that, "...intraoperative frozen section analysis has excellent diagnostic test accuracy and assists gynaecological oncologists to perform the appropriate surgery in 95% of cases, thereby preventing the morbidity of surgical staging in benign cases and the morbidity of restaging procedures or chemotherapy in early-stage malignant tumours..." (overall sensitivity 91.2%, overall specificity 98.6%; positive and negative likelihood ratios 64.7% and 0.09%).⁹⁶

Two high-quality systematic reviews of the accuracy of frozen section histopathology in the diagnosis of the adnexal mass and in the diagnosis of ovarian tumours including 18 and 14 retrospective cohort studies, respectively,^{97,98} (the latter including 3,659 women) showed acceptable sensitivities and high specificities although sensitivities were lower in borderline disease (65-97% for borderline-malignant and 71-100% for borderline-benign).⁹⁷

It is important that surgeons are aware of the limitations of this technique. There is no evidence that analysis of intraoperative frozen sections can define the grade of the cancer.

The clinical situations where the intraoperative, pathological assessment of an ovarian lesion is helpful are:

- to confirm malignancy where clinical assessment reveals a complex ovarian cyst with no apparent metastatic disease; and
- to exclude the presence of metastatic disease where suspicious looking extra ovarian lesions are present if fertility conserving surgery is planned for patients with malignant disease confined to an ovary.

To minimise the need for a second operative staging procedure, intraoperative frozen section assessment can be used to diagnose malignancy and to exclude metastatic disease.

5.3 MANAGEMENT OF EARLY DISEASE

Early disease refers to disease confined to the ovaries (see Annex 2). There are two clinical scenarios where early disease could be encountered:

- The gynaecologist is alerted to the possibility of malignancy being present prior to the laparotomy.
- The gynaecologist had no suspicion of cancer being present prior to surgery.

To minimise the risk of the gynaecologist encountering the second scenario, use should be made of the RMI scoring system if an isolated pelvic mass is discovered on preoperative imaging *(see section 4.2)*. In young women the possibility of a non-epithelial ovarian tumour being present should also be considered.

5.3.1 STAGING

The surgical dilemma in early disease is how comprehensively to stage a case and in particular whether to assess retroperitoneal pelvic and para-aortic nodes and take random peritoneal biopsies. The presence of positive retroperitoneal nodes or abdominal peritoneal implants upstages the case to stage III (see Annex 2).

Proponents of comprehensive staging argue that it is important to give accurate prognostic information to a patient and that the choice of chemotherapy regimen will be influenced by knowledge of the stage of disease (*see section 6*). In those patients with true early stage disease it may then obviate the need for chemotherapy. Descriptive studies have reported that at least 15% of patients thought to have disease confined to the ovaries are found to have positive lymph nodes.^{94,99,100} The opponents of comprehensive staging argue that it cannot be recommended as routine practice due to the lack of RCT data demonstrating any survival benefit conferred to those who undergo full staging including systematic retroperitoneal nodal assessment and there is significant morbidity associated with the procedure. There is, however, evidence to support the usefulness of retroperitoneal pelvic and para-aortic lymph node sampling.^{101,102}

5.3.2 SYSTEMATIC RETROPERITONEAL LYMPHADENECTOMY

Systematic retroperitoneal lymphadenectomy (removal of pelvic and infra-renal para-aortic lymph nodes) for ovarian cancer is not standard management in the UK although it is routinely performed in many North American centres. Systematic lymphadenectomy is defined here as the removal of lymph nodes in specific areas including: the upper para-aortic region above the inferior mesenteric artery (IMA), the lower para-aortic region between the IMA and the bifurcation of the aorta, the inter-aortocaval area, the right paracaval area, the common and external iliac vessels, the obturator fossa and the internal iliac vessels.¹⁰³ Heterogeneity in the literature, however, means that it is often difficult to assess from studies the extent of lymphadenectomy undertaken.

A meta-analysis including two RCTs and seven observational studies looking at the effect of systematic lymphadenectomy on survival included a sub-analysis of studies (one RCT and two retrospective cohort studies) covering 7,158 patients with FIGO stage I-II disease.¹⁰⁴ Although this sub-analysis showed that systematic lymphadenectomy increased overall survival in FIGO stage I-II disease (HR=0.80, 95% CI 0.70 to 0.92), the RCT showed no effect of systematic lymphadenectomy compared with unsystematic lymphadenectomy on overall survival. However, the meta-analysis compared systematic lymphadenectomy with unsystematic lymphadenectomy rather than with no lymphadenectomy, and the observational studies had inherent biases.

Three further cohort studies showed inconsistent results.¹⁰⁵⁻¹⁰⁷ A Japanese study of 118 patients (62 with stage II-II and 56 with stage III-IV disease) with optimally debulked ovarian cancer (<2 cm residual disease) in two hospitals showed no improvement in 5-year overall survival but improved 5-year progression-free survival for those with stage I-II disease receiving lymphadenectomy (n=40) compared with those not receiving lymphadenectomy (n=22) (overall survival (OS) 100% v 80%, p=0.07; progression-free survival (PFS) 94% v 71%, p=0.04)¹⁰⁵ Among the 21/118 patients with stage I-II disease and clear cell carcinoma, 3-year OS and PFS were significantly improved in the lymphadenectomy group (P=0.01 and p=0.04, respectively). However, as patients receiving lymphadenectomy were all treated in one hospital and those not receiving it in another hospital, selection bias and/or surgical performance alone could explain the differences.

A large scale retrospective cohort study from the USA including 49,783 women on the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) database showed improved 5-year cause-specific overall survival for those having limited lymphadenectomy or extensive lymphadenectomy compared to those having no lymph nodes examined (62%, 71% and 37%, respectively; p<0.001).¹⁰⁶ The authors concluded that cause-specific survival favoured lymphadenectomy in epithelial ovarian cancer whatever the stage of disease, however, "potential biases inherent in this retrospective methodology, such as staging migration, defining the extent of residual disease, and the possibility that thorough lymphadenectomy may reflect the quality of cytoreductive surgery, preclude any formal conclusions on the therapeutic role of lymphadenectomy."

A further retrospective cohort study looking at surgical staging of stage I-II epithelial ovarian cancer covering 721 women (71% stage I) in the USA appeared to show limited improved 5-year survival in patients who had lymph node sampling compared with those who did not (84.2% v 69.6%; adjusted HR for risk of death for those with no lymph node sampling, 1.81, 95% CI 1.26 to 2.60).¹⁰⁷ Women who had node sampling had better survival than those who did not regardless of receipt of chemotherapy, possibly because of stage migration, although this may mean that adjuvant treatment may have been tailored to those at higher risk of lymph node involvement rather than that the procedure itself was beneficial. Lymph node sampling was also not defined and the study did not look specifically at systematic lymphadenectomy.

2+

2+

2+

The effect of undertaking systematic lymphadenectomy in all apparent early ovarian cancers would be upstaging of some stage I cancers, however it is not clear from the evidence whether this would imply any survival benefit although some additional patients may receive chemotherapy. There is the potential for some fully staged patients to be spared chemotherapy. There is a risk of causing harm to patients with benign or borderline disease if retroperitoneal lymphadenectomy were done routinely without using frozen section assessment in cases where disease is confined to the ovaries. On the basis of the studies reviewed, there is insufficient evidence to recommend systematic lymphadenectomy in all cases of apparent early stage ovarian cancer.



Routine systematic lymphadenectomy in early stage epithelial ovarian cancer is not recommended.

5.3.3 THE ROLE OF RETROPERITONEAL LYMPH NODE SAMPLING

Knowledge of retroperitoneal lymph node status may influence adjuvant therapy decision making and provide prognostic information. The Adjuvant ChemoTherapy in Ovarian Neoplasm (ACTION) study was an RCT designed to look at the impact of platinum based adjuvant chemotherapy following surgery in early stage ovarian cancer. It was not designed to demonstrate differences in survival due to surgical staging.¹⁰⁸

The trial randomised 448 patients with early stage I-II ovarian cancer to observation only or chemotherapy following surgical staging. Surgical staging had to consist of at least careful inspection and palpation of all peritoneal surfaces, with biopsies of any suspect lesions. However, they did advise far more comprehensive staging recommending omentectomy; peritoneal washings; blind biopsies from the peritoneum in the pelvis (pouch of Douglas, bladder, pelvic sidewalls), the paracolic gutters, and the right hemidiaphragm; and iliac and peri-aortic lymph node sampling. The staging was considered to be optimal if this was performed. The median follow up was 5.5 years. The difference in overall survival between the two groups was not statistically significant (HR=0.69, 95% CI 0.44 to 1.08, p=0.10). Recurrence-free survival (RFS) was statistically significantly improved in the adjuvant chemotherapy group (76% v 65%, 95% Cl 5% to 16%; HR=0.63, 95% Cl 0.43 to 0.92, p=0.02). A subgroup analysis of the third of patients who were optimally surgically staged was performed. In the observation group (ie no adjuvant chemotherapy) comprehensive surgical staging significantly improved OS (HR=2.31, 95% CI 1.08 to 4.96, p=0.03) and RFS (HR=1.82, 95% CI 1.02 to 3.24, p=0.04). Comprehensive surgical staging did not confer any benefit in the chemotherapy group. In the non-optimally staged group, chemotherapy was associated with statistically significantly improved OS (HR=1.75, 95% CI 1.04 to 2.95, p=0.03) and RFS (HR=1.78, 95% CI 1.15 to 2.77, p=0.009). There was therefore no benefit from adjuvant chemotherapy in the optimally staged group.

A further study analysed the data with median follow up of 10.1 years. This supported all the conclusions from the original study and also found that OS after optimal surgical staging was improved, even among patients who had received adjuvant chemotherapy (HR=1.89, 95% CI 0.99 to 3.60, p=0.05). This supports the use of pelvic and para-aortic lymph node sampling in the management of those with early stage ovarian cancer.¹⁰²

NICE clinical guideline 122 recommends that as part of optimal surgical staging in stage I ovarian cancer, retroperitoneal lymph node assessment should be done.⁶³ Optimal surgical staging is defined as:

- mid-line laparotomy to allow thorough assessment of abdomen and pelvis
- removal of ovarian cyst without causing capsular rupture followed by total abdominal hysterectomy and removal of contralateral ovary
- infracolic omentectomy
- biopsies of suspicious looking peritoneal nodules
- iliac and peri-aortic lymph node sampling.

C Retroperitoneal lymph node sampling should be considered as part of surgical staging for apparent early stage disease.

To minimise the need for a second operative staging procedure consideration should be given to using intraoperative frozen section assessment to diagnose a malignant ovarian cyst (see section 5.2.1).

1+

1+

5.3.4 FERTILITY CONSERVING SURGERY

In women who wish to conserve their fertility, adequate staging (excluding disease involving the liver, peritoneum, retroperitoneal nodes, appendix and diaphragm) is required and the risk of recurrent disease developing must be discussed.

Data from six descriptive studies from Europe,^{109,110} the USA,¹¹¹ and Japan,¹¹²⁻¹¹⁴ but applicable to the Scottish population, consistently reported that for stage I serous disease fertility conserving surgery is a valid option with no apparent reduction in overall survival,¹¹¹⁻¹¹⁴ disease-free survival,^{112,113} recurrence-free survival,¹¹⁴ or 5-year survival (91% for women undergoing oophorectomy, 95% Cl 88% to 93%; 94% in women undergoing ovarian conservation, 95% Cl 91% to 96%).¹¹¹ However, the studies reviewed all included more comprehensive surgical staging than is normal practice. The risk of recurrence in the remaining ovary ranged from 3.3% to 7%,¹⁰⁹ and the overall risk of developing relapsed disease ranged from 8.5%¹¹⁴ to 13.8%.¹¹⁰ Once relapsed disease develops, prognosis is very poor and further treatment is not curative. The risk of relapsed disease can be reduced by selecting patients for fertility conservation carefully, avoiding the procedure in high-grade disease, stage Ic or higher stage cases, and avoiding doing a cystectomy. When fertility conserving surgery is requested, use of frozen section assessment is important to minimise the risk of a second surgical procedure and more comprehensive surgical staging would be recommended to exclude the possibility of occult metastatic disease (*see section 5.3.1*).

2+

3

Although the majority of studies looked at rates of relapse rather than pregnancy outcome, a total of 117 of the 422 women included in the studies became pregnant.

If fertility conservation is requested, it is an option in apparent stage la disease, but the benefits and drawbacks of this type of surgery must be discussed with the patient, particularly with regard to the need for a second procedure and the procedure being most appropriate if grade 1 (*see Annex 3*) disease is present.

D In women with stage Ia, grade 1 or grade 2 disease, fertility conserving surgery is an option as long as the contralateral ovary appears normal and there is no evidence of omental or peritoneal disease. Optimal surgical staging should be done and should include biopsies of suspicious looking peritoneal nodules, infracolic omentectomy, and iliac and peri-aortic lymph node sampling.

5.4 OPTIMAL SURGERY FOR ADVANCED DISEASE

Most women with ovarian cancer present with advanced disease. The stage of disease at diagnosis is the most important factor affecting outcome. Advanced disease refers to cases where the disease has spread beyond the ovaries (FIGO stage Ic and above, *see Annex 2*). Treatment for these patients involves surgery and chemotherapy. This section addresses the issue of surgery before the initiation of chemotherapy.

5.4.1 CYTOREDUCTIVE SURGERY

The goal in the surgical management of advanced disease should be to remove all macroscopic disease. It is frequently not possible to do this with standard radical surgery. The goal instead is to remove all tumour deposits measuring more than 1 cm in diameter (optimal cytoreduction).

No RCTs have been conducted comparing chemotherapy and surgery alone, therefore the independent effect of surgery on the disease is difficult to establish. Retrospective studies have shown that the degree of cytoreduction achieved is associated with improved survival. These studies are subject to a number of biases. Randomised trials addressing the value of ultra-radical versus standard radical surgery have not been undertaken. It should be noted that the definition of optimal cytoreduction has changed over time as has management of ovarian cancer, with more women now having neoadjuvant chemotherapy (NACT).

A high quality systematic review of women with advanced stage ovarian cancer suggested improved overall survival for women with carcinomatosis receiving ultra-radical surgery compared with standard radical surgery (adjusted HR 0.64, 95% CI 0.41 to 0.98).¹¹⁵ Another review showed improved survival for women receiving primary optimal cytoreductive surgery (defined in a sub analysis as <1 cm) compared with suboptimal primary surgery (defined as residual disease of >1 cm) (HR=1.36, 95% CI 1.10 to 1.68).¹¹⁶ The latter review also showed improved progression-free survival in women receiving optimal cytoreductive surgery (HR=1.30, 95% CI 1.03 to 1.64). Residual disease of >2 cm did not show any beneficial effect of surgery.¹¹⁶ Adverse events and quality of life were not reported adequately in either review.

C

In surgery for advanced ovarian cancer, the aim should be to achieve complete cytoreduction.

5.4.2 NEOADJUVANT CHEMOTHERAPY AND DELAYED PRIMARY SURGERY

Patients with extensive stage III and stage IV disease where resection of all macroscopic disease is unlikely to be feasible are increasingly being treated with chemotherapy prior to surgery when there is no doubt that the primary tumour is ovarian (*see section 6.2*). A multidisciplinary team should manage these patients and histology, rather than cytology, should be used to confirm the diagnosis.

A Cochrane review including one high quality RCT with 718 patients, relating to women with stage IIIc and stage IV disease, some of whom were from Scotland, reported significantly fewer surgically related serious adverse effects (SAE grade 3 and 4) in women receiving NACT compared to those receiving primary debulking surgery (PDS), for example, haemorrhage (12 NACT v 23 PDS; RR 0.50, 95% CI 0.25 to 0.99), venous thromboembolism (0 NACT v 8 PDS; RR 0.06, 95% CI 0 to 0.98), and infection (5 NACT v 25 PDS; RR 0.19, 95% CI 0.07 to 0.50). Women in the NACT group were also significantly more likely to be debulked to no residual disease or to residual disease measuring less than 1 cm in diameter than women receiving PDS (80.6% vs 41.6%).¹¹⁷

The review showed no difference in progression-free (HR=1.01, 95% CI 0.86 to 1.17) or overall survival (HR=0.98, 95% CI 0.82 to 1.18) between the NACT and PDS groups despite the higher optimal cytoreduction rate in the NACT group. This result may, however, have been influenced by the fact that some centres enrolled the most serious cases into the RCT, ie patients with very large volume IIIc-IV disease where the surgeon felt it was impossible to significantly debulk without NACT. Complete resection of all macroscopic disease (at PDS or interval debulking after NACT) was the strongest independent variable in predicting overall survival. There was no difference in quality of life between the two groups.

As the majority (65%) of patients with ovarian cancer present with advanced disease and most of these will have stage III or IV disease, the adoption of NACT has the potential to reduce postoperative morbidity without any adverse effect on overall survival. NACT could also reduce delays in starting treatment as the main factor causing delay is getting a date for surgery within two weeks after the diagnosis has been made.

The use of neoadjuvant chemotherapy in women with stage IIIc or IV ovarian cancer may be considered as an alternative to primary debulking surgery.

✓ With regard to selecting who will benefit from neoadjuvant chemotherapy, treatment should be individualised to the patient taking into account resectability, age, histology, performance status and after ruling out the possibility of other primary tumours, and after full discussion at multidisciplinary team meetings.

5.5 RELAPSED DISEASE

Relapse in ovarian cancer is common, affecting approximately 75% of patients, and current practice is management with chemotherapy/hormonal agents (*see section 6.3*). Evidence of the possible survival benefit of secondary cancer surgery (SCS) in relapsed disease is lacking. A high-quality systematic review found no evidence from RCTs to inform decisions about secondary surgical cytoreduction plus chemotherapy compared to chemotherapy alone for recurrent epithelial ovarian cancer.¹¹⁸The results of the DESKTOP III RCT, comparing tumour debulking surgery versus chemotherapy alone in platinum-sensitive ovarian cancer, are awaited.

1++

2++

1++

A systematic review of 40 cohort studies of both prospective (n=12) and retrospective design (n=28) and including a total of 2,019 patients, found that the proportion of patients undergoing complete cytoreductive surgery was the only statistically significant clinical variable independently associated with post-recurrence survival time (p=0.019). After controlling for all other factors, each 10% increase in the proportion of patients undergoing complete cytoreductive surgery was associated with a 3-month increase in median cohort survival time (mean weighted median overall post-recurrence survival times was 30.3 months).¹¹⁹

Three cohort studies indicated improved overall survival following SCS, compared with no SCS, especially if optimal (<1 cm) cytoreduction is achieved at SCS (35 months *v* 13 months, p<0.006, n=108;¹²⁰ 42 months *v* 26 months, p=0.718, n=54;¹²¹ HR=0.76, 95% CI 0.66 to 0.87, n=1124).¹²² These studies highlight the need for careful selection of patients for SCS and identify a number of possible prognostic factors including site of recurrence and PFS;¹²¹ well planned surgery, a MDT approach and maximum cytoreduction;¹²² and age, disease-free period, clinical presentation of relapse, completeness of SCS and response to second line chemotherapy.¹²⁰

Two further non-comparative studies, one from Italy involving 60 patients, and one from Germany involving 240 patients, looking at prognostic factors, identified a disease-free interval of >12 months, residual disease after primary surgery of <2 cm, the staging and grade at time of primary surgery;¹²³ and absence of ascites, platinum-sensitivity, initial FIGO stage <IV and complete resection¹²⁴ to be associated with better survival.

Overall, there is consistent evidence that in carefully selected patients with platinum-sensitive disease, SCS can improve overall survival. As with the primary surgical effort, the aim should be complete macroscopic resection. The DESKTOP II study suggests that patients should have PFS of greater than 6-12 months, good performance status, minimal or no ascites, and radiologically determined resectable disease.¹²⁵ The DESKTOP II study prospectively validated a scoring system (AGO score) to predict surgical outcome in recurrent ovarian cancer. This was based on a previous study (DESKTOP I) which had shown that complete resection at SCS was the strongest prognostic factor for survival. It also showed that three independent factors associated with complete resection were good performance status (ECOG score of 0), complete macroresection at first surgery, and absence of ascites (<500 ml). There was no PFS or OS data from the subsequent DESKTOP II as the aim of that study was to evaluate the AGO score. The RCT DESKTOP III is currently underway.

Although the results of RCTs are awaited, improved overall survival with a tendency to less residual disease after SCS is a consistent result especially in those completely or 'optimally' cytoreduced at initial surgery. Morbidity and mortality were not, however, well reported, although one study reported a postoperative complication rate of 20.4% with no mortality,¹²¹ and another reported a mortality rate of 7.8% within 30 days and 47.9% during follow up (median follow up duration 13.9 months, range 0.1 to 90.0, median OS 29 months, 95% CI 24.6 to 33.4).¹²⁴

2⁺ 3

C In selected patients with relapsed epithelial ovarian cancer which is platinum-sensitive, secondary cytoreductive surgery may be appropriate and may improve overall survival. The aim should be complete resection of all macroscopic disease. Where possible, this should be done in the context of a clinical trial.

2+

2+

6 Chemotherapy

6.1 EARLY DISEASE

6.1.1 ADJUVANT CHEMOTHERAPY FOR STAGE IA AND STAGE IB DISEASE

In a recent high quality systematic review of adjuvant chemotherapy for early stage epithelial ovarian cancer that included five RCTs (1,277 participants), a meta-analysis of five-year data from three trials indicated that women who received adjuvant platinum based chemotherapy had better overall survival than those who did not (1,008 women; HR=0.71, 95% CI 0.53 to 0.93).¹²⁶ A second meta-analysis of four trials with broadly comparable patients and regimens indicated that women who received adjuvant chemotherapy had better PFS that those who did not (1,170 women; HR=0.67, 95% CI 0.53 to 0.84). The meta-analysis indicated that between nine and 100 women would have to be treated with adjuvant chemotherapy in order to prevent one death and between seven and 33 women would have to be treated with adjuvant chemotherapy in order to prevent one recurrence. The trials included in these meta-analyses gave consistent estimates of the effects of chemotherapy with a similar direction and magnitude of effect. In addition, these findings were robust over time (10-year PFS, two trials, 925 women; HR=0.67, 95% CI 0.54 to 0.84). There was, however, inconsistency in the extent to which individual trials analysed subgroups of patients according to level of risk or according to the extent of surgical staging. The authors concluded that adjuvant platinum based chemotherapy is effective in prolonging the survival of the majority of patients who are assessed as having early (FIGO stage I-IIa) epithelial ovarian cancer. However, it may be unnecessary for women in whom there is well differentiated encapsulated unilateral disease (stage la grade 1). A subgroup analysis suggested that women who had optimal surgical staging of their disease were unlikely to benefit from adjuvant chemotherapy (OS – HR=1.22; 95% Cl 0.63 to 2.37; 2 trials, 234 women) whereas those who had suboptimal staging did (OS – HR=0.63; 95% CI 0.46 to 0.85; 2 trials, 772 women). However, the authors note that these subgroup findings could be due to chance and should be interpreted with caution.¹²⁶ The meta-analysis did not address the issue of histological subtype making it difficult to identify which women do not benefit from adjuvant chemotherapy.

In the ACTION chemotherapy trial, one third of patients were optimally staged (see section 5.3.3). Adjuvant chemotherapy in this group of patients was not associated with a statistically significant improvement in overall and disease-free survival. The validity of a subgroup analysis in this study is questionable given the small number of patients involved. When the data from the ACTION trial were combined with that from the International Collaborative Ovarian Neoplasm (ICON) 1 trial (in which the majority of patients were not optimally staged) platinum based adjuvant chemotherapy resulted in an 8% improvement in overall survival at 5 years (82% in the chemotherapy arm v 74% in the observation arm; 95% Cl 2% to 12%) and an 11% improvement in disease-free survival at 5 years (76% in the chemotherapy arm v 65% in the observation arm; 95% Cl 5% to 16%).¹⁰⁸

1++

All women with high-grade early stage (la-lb) ovarian cancer should be considered for adjuvant chemotherapy.

¹⁺

6.1.2 MAINTENANCE THERAPY IN EARLY STAGE DISEASE

A high quality RCT of 542 women with stage I or II epithelial ovarian cancer compared the recurrence-free interval (RFI) and safety profile in patients with completely resected high-risk early-stage ovarian cancer treated with intravenous carboplatin and paclitaxel with or without maintenance low dose paclitaxel for 24 weeks (observation arm, n=268, 175 mg/m² q3 x3 followed by surveillance; maintenance arm, n=274, carboplatin AUC 6 plus paclitaxel 175 mg/m² q3 x3 followed by paclitaxel 40 mg/m² q1 week x24).¹²⁷ The median duration of follow up was 6.7 years for 445 patients still alive at last contact; there were 122 recurrences. The rate of recurrence within five years was 20.4% (95% CI 15.9 to 25.9) in the maintenance group versus 23.2% (95%CI 18.4 to 28.9) in the observation group. After adjusting for stage of disease and tumour grade, recurrence was 19.3% lower in the maintenance group (HR=0.807, 95% CI 0.56 to 1.15, p=0.24). The probability of surviving five years was 86.2% for the maintenance group and 85.4% for the surveillance group. The overall death rate was similar (HR=0.78, 95% CI 0.52 to 1.17, p=0.23).

Toxicity was reported for 536 patients who received any study therapy and was worse for those in the maintenance group. The incidence of grade 2 or worse peripheral neuropathy (15.5% v 6.0%), infection or fever (19.9% v 8.7%), and dermatologic events (70.8% v 52.1%) was significantly higher among patients in the maintenance group (p<0.001). There was also a slightly greater incidence of grade 2 or worse cardiovascular events (8.1% v 3.8%, p=0.044) and the incidence of grade 3 or 4 peripheral neuropathy was 4.4% v 0.7% (p=0.012). In total, 21 patients (10 on maintenance and 11 on observation arm) developed a second primary cancer during follow up. There were no treatment-related deaths reported. The authors concluded that maintenance paclitaxel provides no significant increase in RFI.

В

For early stage disease, maintenance cytotoxic chemotherapy should not be given.

6.2 ADVANCED DISEASE

Ovarian cancer is made up of different histological subtypes: high-grade serous, low-grade serous, endometriod, mucinous, clear cell and carcinosarcoma. The most frequent subtype is high-grade serous carcinoma and hence these make up the vast majority of patients included in clinical trials. The applicability of the findings and conclusions of these trials to the rarer subtypes is difficult to establish as the numbers are generally too small for separate analysis. However, there is emerging evidence that the different subtypes are different diseases with different clinical behaviour and distinct molecular biology. As a result, they will require different treatment strategies but at present there are limited data and no completed phase III randomised control trials in the separate subtypes on which to base separate treatment recommendations. Where evidence exists from retrospective analyses or non-randomised studies, this will be discussed. Where possible, women should be included in ongoing histo-type specific trials.

6.2.1 ROLE OF PLATINUM AGENTS

Meta-analyses show significant benefit for use of platinum.^{128,129}

1++

1++

First line chemotherapy treatment of epithelial ovarian cancer should include a platinum agent either in combination or as a single agent, unless specifically contraindicated.

6.2.2 CHOICE OF PLATINUM AGENTS

The platinum based drugs cisplatin and carboplatin are equally efficacious in the treatment of epithelial ovarian cancer.¹²⁸ Carboplatin has a more favourable toxicity profile. The combination of carboplatin and paclitaxel is as efficacious as cisplatin and paclitaxel combination therapy.¹³⁰

Α

Carboplatin is the platinum drug of choice in both single and combination therapy.

1++

1++

1+

1++

1++

6.2.3 OTHER AGENTS

Two high-quality RCTs support the use of paclitaxel and cisplatin as an efficacious combination for advanced ovarian cancer.^{131,132} A further study has suggested that carboplatin can be substituted for cisplatin.¹³⁰

Although one RCT has shown that single agent cisplatin yielded both equivalent response rates and equivalent overall survival to cisplatin and paclitaxel, this trial is difficult to interpret due to treatment crossover issues.¹³¹ The study recommends the taxane combination on the grounds of reduced toxicity compared to single agent cisplatin. The ICON 3 trial demonstrates equal effectiveness for carboplatin or CAP (cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin and cisplatin) compared with paclitaxel and carboplatin in ovarian cancer.¹³³ ICON 3 does not imply that paclitaxel has no role in the treatment of ovarian cancer, but it does suggest that the dramatic difference seen in the earlier studies was principally due to the inferiority of the cyclophosphamide and cisplatin control arm. An interpretation of a meta-analysis of all these studies does suggest a slight benefit for the taxane and platinum combination.¹³³

Five good quality RCTs, including 6,873 patients, have investigated the addition of a third cytotoxic agent to standard therapy with carboplatin and paclitaxel for the first line treatment of advanced ovarian cancer (some studies included stage Ic to IV, but the majority included stage III and IV).¹³⁴⁻¹³⁸ Agents investigated were doxorubicin, pegylated liposomal doxorubicin, gemcitabine, topotecan, and cisplatin in various schedules. The addition of a third cytotoxic agent to standard therapy with caroplatin and paclitaxel did not improve survival outcomes¹³⁸ but did increase toxicity, particularly haematological toxicity, for example, with gemcitabine,^{136,138} pegylated liposomal doxorubicin,¹³⁶ and with topotecan.¹³⁷

A further RCT comparing induction chemotherapy with carboplatin and gemcitabine (GC arm) to carboplatin and paclitaxel (TC arm) showed better overall survival in the carboplatin and paclitaxel arm, however, this difference was not maintained in a multivariate analysis (HR=1.22, 95% CI 0.99 to 1.52, p=0.067).¹³⁹ The incidence of grade 3-4 thrombocytopenia was significantly higher in the GC arm compared with the TC arm (n=279, 67.7% in GC arm; n=48, 11.8% in TC arm; p<0.001), and the incidence of grade ≥2 alopecia was significantly higher in the TC arm compared with the GC arm (n=208, 51.0% for TC; n=30, 7.3% for GC; p<0.001). In addition, the incidence of grade ≥2 neuropathy was also significantly higher in the TC arm compared with the GC arm (n=57, 14.0% for TC; n=9, 2.2% for GC; p<0.001).

An RCT comparing carboplatin (AUC 5) and paclitaxel (175 mg/m²) (standard therapy, TC arm) to carboplatin (AUC 5) and pegylated liposomal doxorubicin (30 mg/m²) (experimental, PLD/C arm) showed that the substitution of PLD for paclitaxel was not superior (OS 61.6 v 53.2, respectively, HR=0.89, 95% CI 0.72 to 1.12, p=0.32) but did show a different spectrum of toxicity with less neurotoxicity and alopecia but more haematologic adverse effects (grade 3/4 anaemia, 3% TC v 10% PLD/C; grade 3/4 thrombocytopenia, 8% TC v 16% PLD/C; \geq 2 neuropathy, 19% TC v 3% PLD/C; grade 2 alopecia, 60% TC v 5% PLD/C). Including all grades, diarrhoea was more common with TC and stomatitis and skin toxicity with PLD/C.¹⁴⁰

- Paclitaxel is recommended in combination therapy with platinum in the first line post-surgery treatment of epithelial ovarian cancer where the potential benefits justify the toxicity of the therapy. In those unable to tolerate paclitaxel, peglated liposomal doxorubicin or gemcitabine in combination with carboplatin can be used as an alternative.
- Patients who are unfit for combination therapy should be offered single agent carboplatin.
- A third cytotoxic agent should not be added to carboplatin and paclitaxel.

6.2.4 SCHEDULING

Increasing the dose intensity by increasing the total dose or decreasing the interval between doses is a potential way of increasing the efficacy of chemotherapy. In recurrent, platinum-resistant, ovarian cancer, high response rates with dose-dense platinum containing regimens have been reported in non-randomised studies. Despite this, several studies have shown no benefit and increased toxicity from increasing the dose intensity of platinum therapy in the first line setting.¹⁴¹⁻¹⁴³

However, one study in a Japanese population receiving first line therapy for advanced ovarian cancer has shown a significant and sustained improvement in progression-free and overall survival with weekly intravenous dose-dense paclitaxel (80 mg/m², 1-h infusion, given on days 1, 8 and 15) plus carboplatin (AUC 6, given on day one of a 21 day cycle), compared with paclitaxel (180 mg/m²; 3-h infusion) plus carboplatin, given on day 1 of a 21 day cycle. Overall survival at three years was 72.1% in the dose-dense arm versus 65.1% in the control arm (HR=0.75, 95% CI 0.57 to 0.98, p=0.03). The difference is maintained at five years (58.6% v 51%, HR=0.79, p=0.0448). Median progression-free survival was 28 months versus 17.2 months (unadjusted HR=0.71, 95% CI 0.58 to 0.88, p=0.0015). Neutropenia (92% v 88%) and grade 3/4 anaemia (69% v 44%, p<0.001) were higher in the dose-dense arm.¹⁴⁴ It is possible that differences in pharmacogenomics will alter the tolerability of the regimen in a Caucasian population and studies are ongoing which will address this. This regimen also has implications for service delivery and for women undergoing treatment as they would need to attend weekly for 18 weeks instead of six visits but an economic analysis has demonstrated that it is a cost-effective treatment.¹⁴⁵

There are several ongoing studies that also assess the efficacy of dose-dense paclitaxel (ICON 8, GOG 262, MITO 7). The results of ongoing clinical trials are required in order to establish whether a regimen of carboplatin AUC 6 (day 1 q21) and paclitaxel 80 mg/m² (day 1, 8, 15 q21) should become the standard of care.

B Carboplatin AUC 6 (day 1 q21) and paclitaxel 80 mg/m² (day 1, 8, 15 q21) may be considered for the treatment of first line ovarian cancer. The increased toxicity and frequency of visits need to be discussed with the patient.

✓ Where possible, patients receiving treatment with carboplatin AUC 6 (day 1 q21) and paclitaxel 80 mg/m² (day 1, 8, 15 q21) for first line ovarian cancer should be enrolled in ongoing clinical trials in order to establish if this regime should become the standard of care.

6.2.5 BIOLOGICAL THERAPIES

Two RCTs have investigated the benefit of the addition of bevacizumab, a humanised monoclonal antibody, to vascular endothelial growth factor A (VEGF), to carboplatin and paclitaxel.^{146,147} The GOG 218 study was a double-blind, placebo-controlled study of 1,873 patients with untreated stage III and IV disease (including 66% with stage IIIc and >1 cm residual disease or stage IV) and randomised between carboplatin (AUC 6) and paclitaxel (175 mg/m²) for six cycles plus bevacizumab 15 mg/kg during cycles 2–6 and placebo during cycles 7–22 or carboplatin and paclitaxel for six cycles plus bevacizumab during cycles 2–2.¹⁴⁶ A limitation of this study was the change of the primary end point from OS to PFS as maintenance of the blinding after progression was not considered acceptable. Therefore, postprogression therapy was not controlled, so many patients crossed over to receive bevacizumab, affecting the integrity of OS data. There was no difference in PFS between the control group and bevacizumab initiation group but there was a statistically significant improvement in PFS for the group who received bevacizumab throughout (median 10.3 *v* 14.1 months, HR=0.717, 95% CI 0.625 to 0.824, p<0.001).

The ICON 7 study included 1,528 women with high-risk stage I-lla and advanced stage IIb or IV epithelial ovarian cancer (9% had high risk early-stage disease, 70% had stage IIIc or IV ovarian cancer and 30% had stage IIIc >1 cm residual disease or stage IV). Patients were randomised between carboplatin (AUC, 5 or 6) and paclitaxel (175 mg/m²), given every three weeks for six cycles, or to this regimen plus bevacizumab (7.5 mg/kg), given concurrently every three weeks for five or six cycles and continued for 12 additional cycles or until progression of disease. There was a small but statistically significant improvement in PFS in the whole population (restricted mean at 42 months was 22.4 months without bevacizumab v 24.1 months

1++

1+

4

26

with bevacizumab p=0.04). In the women with stage IIIc and >1 cm residual disease or stage IV, the benefit was greater (PFS, restricted mean, at 42 months of 14.5 months v 18.1 months with respective median overall survival of 28.8 and 36.6 months; HR for death in the bevacizumab group of 0.64, 95% CI 0.48 to 0.85, p=0.002). Bevacizumab was associated with significantly higher rates of bleeding (mainly grade 1 mucocutaneous bleeding), hypertension of grade 2 or higher (18% with bevacizumab v 2% with standard therapy), thromboembolic events of grade 3 or higher (7% with bevacizumab v 3% with standard therapy), and gastrointestinal perforations (occurring in 10 patients in the bevacizumab group v three patients in the standard-therapy group). Quality of life scores did not differ between groups in either study.¹⁴⁷

The addition of bevacizumab during and after chemotherapy, at both 7.5 mg/kg and 15 mg/kg, prolongs PFS and the benefit is greater in women with incompletely resected (>1 cm residual) stage III and IV disease. The benefit varies over time with maximal benefit in the ICON 7 trial at 12 months and in the GOG 218 trial at 15 months, disappearing by 24 months.^{146,147} There was no difference in OS in the GOG 218 trial but these data are compromised by postprogression crossover. A 7.8 month median OS benefit was seen in the group of women with incompletely resected (>1 cm residual) stage III and IV disease. The benefit seen in the ICON 7 trial with 7.5 mg/kg for the patients with stage IIIc and >1 cm residual disease or stage IV disease was similar to the benefit seen in the GOG 218 trial with 15 mg/kg suggesting that 7.5 mg/kg is sufficient. The benefit for those with high-risk early disease and stage III disease with residual disease <1 cm was very small.

Further research is required to determine the optimal duration of therapy and to identify predictive markers of benefit from bevacizumab.

Bevacizumab 15mg/kg is accepted for restricted use by the SMC for combination with carboplatin and paclitaxel, for treatment of patients with stage IV disease *(see section 10.4)*. Bevacizumab at the lower dose of 7.5mg/kg is not currently licensed due to concerns about increased toxicity.¹⁴⁸

Several other biological agents have been assessed in randomised trials for the first-line treatment of ovarian cancer. These include the CA125-specific murine monoclonal antibody, oregovomab,¹⁵⁰ interferon gamma,¹⁵¹ the farnesyltransferase inhibitor, lonafarnib,¹⁵² and thalidomide,¹⁵³ but none has demonstrated a benefit with respect to PFS or OS. Trials of maintenance oral PARP inhibitors following first-line chemotherapy are ongoing (SOLO-1 and PRIMA).



Women with stage IV ovarian cancer should be offered bevacizumab in combination with carboplatin and paclitaxel.

6.2.6 MAINTENANCE THERAPIES

Despite good initial responses to chemotherapy, most women with ovarian cancer will develop relapsed disease. This has led to an interest in maintenance therapy in order to try to delay relapse and/or increase survival.

A systematic review including six RCTs of 902 women included a meta-analysis of four RCTs (n=479) of maintenance chemotherapy after complete response to first line platinum and paclitaxel which showed no benefit to overall survival from topotecan, anthracyclines or platinum.¹⁵⁴ An additional RCT including 296 women with advanced ovarian cancer who had achieved a complete response to first line platinum-paclitaxel chemotherapy, showed a statistically significant benefit to median PFS of eight months (22 compared with 14 months, p=0.006) but no benefit to overall survival when 12 cycles of maintenance paclitaxel (135 mg/m², q 21d) compared to three cycles were given following a complete response to primary platinum/paclitaxel (median OS 53 months v 48 months, respectively, p=0.34). There was a higher incidence of grade 2 (23% v 15%) and 3 (6% v 1%) neuropathy, and grade 3 pain (4% v 1%) in the 12-cycle treatment arm.¹⁵⁵ In contrast another study of six cycles of paclitaxel (175mg/m²) after a complete response showed no difference in PFS or OS.¹⁵⁶

1++

1++

Continued maintenance therapy with bevacizumab following first line carboplatin, paclitaxel and bevacizumab has been shown to delay progression (*see section 6.2.5*) and the use of continued maintenance therapy with other biological agents is under investigation in clinical trials.



For advanced ovarian cancer, maintenance cytotoxic chemotherapy should not be given following standard first line chemotherapy.

6.2.7 INTRAPERITONEAL CHEMOTHERAPY

A meta-analysis of nine RCTs, including six considered to be of high quality, concluded that women with a new diagnosis of epithelial ovarian cancer (stage II-IV) with residual disease of ≤ 2 cm, benefited from a chemotherapy regimen that included an intraperitoneal (IP) component compared to intravenous (IV) chemotherapy following primary cytoreductive surgery in terms of survival and progression-free interval (HR=0.81, 95% CI 0.72 to 0.90 and HR=0.78, 95% CI 0.70 to 0.86, respectively).¹⁵⁷ Intraperitoneal treatment was associated with greater serious toxicity (grade 3 and 4) with regards to gastrointestinal effects (RR 1.90, 95% CI 1.57 to 2.30), pain (RR 7.47, 95% CI 4.41 to 12.67), fever (RR 1.64, 95% CI 1.13 to 2.38) and infection (RR 3.34, 95% CI 2.06 to 5.43), but less ototoxicity (RR 0.67, 95% CI 0.46 to 0.99), although heterogeneity across trials, probably reflecting differing doses, makes comparison difficult.

However, only three of the trials used an intravenous control regimen that would be considered comparable to current standard IV therapy. In addition only four studies used similar doses and schedule of chemotherapy in the IV and IP arms so results may be confounded by a higher dose intensity in the IP arm. One trial assessed the effects on quality of life (QoL) and found worse QoL in the IP arm during and immediately after treatment but no difference 12 months after treatment. In the GOG 172 study, women in the IP arm reported worse QoL and pain prior to the fourth chemotherapy cycle (p<0.001) and worse QoL three to six weeks post treatment (p=0.009). There were no significant QoL or pain score differences between arms one year post treatment. Trials are ongoing which aim to establish more tolerable IP regimens and which avoid confounding factors.

The population that is most likely to benefit from IP treatment has yet to be determined but bowel surgery may predispose to complications and the studies only included women with residual disease of ≤ 2 cm.

- B Chemotherapy which includes an intraperitoneal element can be considered for women with a new diagnosis of epithelial ovarian cancer and residual disease of ≤1 cm after primary surgery provided a regimen of proven benefit in a clinical trial compared to intravenous therapy is used, it is delivered in a centre with appropriate expertise and the potential toxicities are fully explained.
- ✓ Where possible, women receiving intraperitoneal chemotherapy should be enrolled into ongoing clinical trials.

6.3 RELAPSED DISEASE

6.3.1 SYSTEMIC THERAPY IN RECURRENT OVARIAN CANCER

Relapse in ovarian cancer occurs in approximately 75% of patients and is therefore a significant problem, affecting approximately 375 patients a year in Scotland. Relapsed ovarian cancer is incurable but prolonged survival (>1 year) is possible in the majority of patients and improved treatment following relapse has resulted in incremental increases in the overall survival from ovarian cancer.

Three systematic reviews, one meta-analysis, and 14 good-quality RCTs of chemotherapy for relapsed ovarian cancer support the use of platinum-based combination chemotherapy (where likely to be tolerated) in platinum-sensitive relapsed disease.¹⁵⁸⁻¹⁷⁵ For platinum-resistant ovarian cancer, the evidence is less clear, with data in some cases derived from small patient subgroups in studies of relapsed ovarian cancer rather than studies which were performed specifically in the platinum-resistant setting.

1++

1++

1++

The results from two systematic reviews including 13 and nine RCTs, respectively, provide good evidence that platinum based combination chemotherapy provides a survival benefit when compared to single agent platinum chemotherapy, although combination therapy was associated with higher rates of adverse events.^{158,160}

In the setting of platinum-sensitive relapsed ovarian cancer there is evidence from a large RCT with a low risk of bias that the combination of carboplatin and pegylated liposomal doxorubicin hydrochloride (PLDH) (CD arm) is more tolerable than carboplatin and paclitaxel (CP arm) and that it confers a progression-free survival benefit (median PFS 11.3 months for CD arm v 9.4 months for CP arm; HR=0.823, 95% CI 0.72 to 0.94, p=0.005).¹⁷²

Trabectedin combined with PLDH improved PFS compared to monotherapy, and increased overall survival compared to topotecan alone. However, this therapy was not as cost effective as paclitaxel or PLDH plus platinum.²²⁰ Monotherapy with PLDH or paclitaxel is cost effective for the treatment of women with platinum-sensitive disease when platinum-based treatment is unsuitable.²²⁰

Potential toxicities with combination therapy with either paclitaxel or PLDH include myelosuppression, fatigue, nausea, vomiting and palmoplantar erythrodysasthesiae. Treatment with paclitaxel is also associated with alopecia, neuropathy, and arthralgia. Stomatitis has been reported mainly with use of PLDH.²²⁰ The use of platinum combination therapy compared to single-agent platinum depends on patient comorbidity and willingness to accept the additional toxicity, and the pros and cons of each approach should be discussed with the patient.

In patients with platinum-resistant ovarian cancer, a network meta-analysis identified no significant difference in PFS or OS benefit between PLDH, three-weekly paclitaxel or topotecan monotherapy. This was in line with the findings from the individual trials.²²⁰ NICE reported that paclitaxel or PLDH as monotherapy were cost effective and concluded that either could be recommended for treatment of women with platinum-resistant or refractory ovarian cancer.²²⁰

The addition of bevacizumab to paclitaxel and carboplatin; gemcitabine and carboplatin; or bevacizumab with either PLDH, weekly paclitaxel or weekly topotecan, improved PFS (HR 0.53, 95% CI 0.45 to 0.63) and OS (HR 0.87, 95% CI 0.77 to 0.99).²²¹ Two of the trials included patients with platinum-sensitive ovarian cancer, and the other was in patients with platinum-resistant cancer. Common adverse events reported with bevacizumab use were hypertension, proteinuria, bleeding, wound healing disruption, gastrointestinal perforations, arterial thrombosis events and venous thrombosis events.²²¹

Bevacizumab is accepted by SMC for restricted use in combination with paclitaxel in patients with platinumresistant recurrent ovarian cancer who have received no more than two prior chemotherapy regimens and who have not received prior therapy with bevacizumab or other VEGF inhibitors or VEGF receptor-targeted agents (*see section 10.4*). However, SMC does not recommend it for use in combination with carboplatin and paclitaxel, or in combination with carboplatin and gemcitabine in patients with first-recurrence platinumsensitive ovarian cancer.

- A Women with platinum-sensitive relapsed ovarian cancer should be offered treatment with carboplatin combined with either paclitaxel or pegylated liposomal doxorubicin hydrochloride (depending on fitness, comorbidity and toxicity experienced with previous treatment).
- A Women with platinum-resistant ovarian cancer should be considered for treatment with paclitaxel or single agent pegylated liposomal doxorubicin hydrochloride (depending on fitness, comorbidity and patient's wishes).
- A Women with platinum-resistant relapsed ovarian cancer should be offered bevacizumab in combination with paclitaxel.

Trials of poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) inhibitors have shown benefit in lengthening progression-free survival in patients with advanced, recurrent, platinum-sensitive ovarian cancer.²²²⁻²²⁴

A trial of olaparib reported improved PFS of 19.1 months compared to 5.5 months for placebo; HR 0.30 (95% CI 0.22 to 0.41).²²⁴ Twelve-month PFS was 65% in the olaparib group versus 21% placebo, and 43% versus 15% for 24 month survival.²²⁴ Overall survival data at five-year follow up from the Phase II trial showed improved survival compared to placebo, although it was not sufficient to be statistically significant (HR 0.73, 95% CI 0.55 to 0.96 across the patient groups. Median overall survival was 29.8 months with olaparib, compared to 27.8 in the placebo group.²²⁵

Rucarapib also showed benefit with a PFS of 10.8 months versus 5.4 months with placebo, HR 0.36, 95% Cl 0.30 to 0.45.²²²

In the trial of niraparib PFS was longest in patients with a germline BRCA mutation (PFS 21 months v 5.5 months for placebo, HR 0.27 95% CI 0.17 to 0.41). Overall, for patients in the non-germline *BRCA* mutation cohort PFS was 9.3 months versus 3.9 months for placebo, HR 0.45 (95% CI 0.34 to 0.61). For patients who were non-germline *BRCA* with tumours with homologous recombination deficiency the PFS was 21.9 months versus 3.8 months placebo, HR 0.38, 95% CI 0.24 to 0.59.²²³

Patients reported quality of life to be similar whether on PARP inhibitor or placebo.²²²⁻²²⁴ All three trials reported anaemia as a common serious adverse event.²²²⁻²²⁴ Thrombocytopenia and neutropenia were commonly reported with the use of niraparib, but could be managed with dose reduction.²²³ The trials of olaparib and rucarapib resulted in the death of one patient due to the development of myeloid leukaemia.^{222,224} Another patient in the rucarapib cohort died from treatment-related myelopdysplastic syndrome.²²² In the long-term data from the phase II trial of olaparib, three patients developed myelodysplastic syndromes or acute myeloid leukaemia, one of whom was in the placebo group.²²⁵

SMC has accepted olaparib for monotherapy for the maintenance treatment of patients with platinumsensitive relapsed *BRCA*-mutated (germline and/or somatic) high grade serous epithelial ovarian cancer who are in response to platinum-based chemotherapy. Niraparib is accepted for monotherapy for maintenance treatment of patients with platinum-sensitive relapsed non germline *BRCA* mutation high grade serous epithelial ovarian cancer who are in response to platinum-based chemotherapy (*see section 10.4*).

A Olaparib monotherapy should be considered for maintenance treatment after response to platinum for patients with relapsed platinum-sensitive *BRCA*-mutated ovarian cancer.

A Niraparib monotherapy should be considered for maintenance treatment after response to platinum for patients with relapsed platinum-sensitive non-germline *BRCA*-mutated ovarian cancer.

6.3.2 THE ROLE OF HORMONAL THERAPY IN RELAPSED DISEASE

A Cochrane review of tamoxifen concluded that no evidence based recommendations could be made due to the lack of comparative studies assessing the effectiveness of tamoxifen in women with recurrent ovarian cancer.

Several small (n=27-60), single arm, phase II studies have investigated the use of various hormonal agents including tamoxifen, aromatase inhibitors, luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone (LHRH) agonists and antagonists in heavily pre-treated recurrent ovarian cancer.¹⁷⁶⁻¹⁸³ All have shown low toxicity with modest response rates (from less than 10% to 18%) with additional patients achieving stable disease and some with prolonged disease control. In the four studies reporting toxicities (n=154), only three patients withdrew from studies because of toxicity (one each for nausea, rash and headache; all receiving letrozole).^{178-180,182} There is evidence that higher levels of oestrogen receptor expression are associated with greater chance of response.^{178,181}

3

1++
Trials are needed to assess whether hormone receptor status is useful in selecting patients with recurrent ovarian cancer for tamoxifen therapy, whether certain histological subtypes of ovarian cancer are more likely to respond, and whether tamoxifen improves survival, symptom control and quality of life compared to chemotherapy or novel agents in platinum-resistant recurrent disease or to no therapy when used in the setting of asymptomatic progression to delay the onset of symptoms.¹⁸⁴

Hormonal therapy with tamoxifen or an aromatase inhibitor can be used for women with recurrent, platinum-resistant, ovarian cancer or in those wishing to avoid or delay further chemotherapy, particularly where their original tumour is expressing the oestrogen receptor.

6.4 CHEMOTHERAPY FOR LOW-GRADE SEROUS, CLEAR CELL AND MUCINOUS HISTOLOGICAL SUBTYPES

Epithelial ovarian cancer is made up of at least five different histological subtypes: high-grade serous, lowgrade serous, endometrioid, mucinous and clear cell carcinoma. In addition, carcinosarcomas, also known as mixed mullerian tumours, are also probably best classified as epithelial tumours. These different histological subtypes of ovarian cancer are now recognised as distinct diseases with different genetic factors, precursor lesions, molecular events during oncogenesis, patterns of spread and response to treatment.

In advanced disease, clear cell carcinomas and mucinous carcinomas have a poor prognosis when compared to high-grade serous and endometrioid tumours. They also respond less well to chemotherapy.¹⁸⁵⁻¹⁹⁰

Low-grade serous carcinoma has a relatively indolent natural history compared to high-grade disease but is also resistant to standard chemotherapy.¹⁹¹

In clear cell carcinoma, there has been one randomised phase II study comparing irinotecan plus cisplatin to carboplatin and paclitaxel for the first line treatment of stage Ic to IV disease. This demonstrated that the combination was feasible and a subsequent phase III trial has completed recruitment. A retrospective review of population based outcomes in Canada suggested a potential advantage from pelvic radiotherapy over chemotherapy alone in stage 1c and II clear cell carcinomas but this needs to be prospectively assessed in a clinical trial.¹⁹² Early phase trials of angiogenesis inhibitors and motor inhibitors are in development.

A multinational randomised controlled phase III trial in mucinous ovarian cancer of oxaliplatin and capecitabine versus carboplatin and paclitaxel with a further randomisation to bevacizumab or no bevacizumab, is currently recruiting.

A single arm phase II study of the MEK 1/2 inhibitor, selumetinib, has shown activity in relapsed low-grade serous carcinoma with a response rate of 15% and stable disease in 65%.¹⁹³

The rarer subtypes together make up a significant proportion of ovarian cancer. As understanding of the molecular biology of the different subtypes increases and new therapeutic opportunities emerge, it will no longer be appropriate to treat them as a single entity. Significant international collaboration and innovative trial design will be required in order to undertake subgroup specific trials because of the small patient numbers.

Patients with low-grade serous, clear cell and mucinous histological subtypes should be considered for clinical trials.

7 Follow up

There are no RCTs specific to ovarian cancer that assess whether follow up at a multidisciplinary clinic reduces the risk of death. A descriptive study demonstrates that an independent prognostic factor for improved survival is follow up at a multidisciplinary clinic.¹⁹⁴

A Cochrane systematic review of follow-up strategies for patients with epithelial ovarian cancer following completion of primary treatment identified one RCT (n=529) with a low risk of bias that suggested that routine surveillance of CA125 in blood serum in asymptomatic patients, with treatment at CA125 relapse, does not seem to offer survival advantage when compared to treatment at symptomatic relapse. Overall survival showed no significant difference between the immediate and delayed arms after a median follow up of 56.9 months (unadjusted HR=0.98, 95% CI 0.80 to 1.20, p<0.85).¹⁹⁵ It is important to note that the results of this RCT relate to the first relapse of ovarian cancer.

Two further systematic reviews, one including 67 studies, five of which (one RCT and four observational studies) examined survival benefit,¹⁹⁶ and one including four studies (two reviews, two retrospective cohorts), three of which considered survival benefit,¹⁹⁷ concluded that there was no evidence of a positive effect on survival in women followed up after primary treatment of ovarian cancer.

2++ 2+

All three reviews concluded that further research is needed on the benefits of different types of routine follow up on, for example, outcomes, quality of life and psychological effects.

- A Treatment of first relapse of ovarian cancer should be guided by the development of symptoms.
 - In the absence of symptoms, routine measurement of CA125 during follow up is not mandatory.

Management of malignant bowel obstruction in 8 relapsed disease

The true incidence of malignant intestinal obstruction due to progressive disease (not a primary diagnosis) is not known. Two autopsy studies of patients with ovarian cancer described cancer involvement in the bowel.^{198,199} In one study 70% of patients had involvement of the small bowel and 78% involvement of the large bowel with an overall 51% incidence of intestinal obstruction.¹⁹⁸ In the other study there was small bowel involvement in 42% of cases and large bowel involvement in 49%.¹⁹⁹ Several pathophysiological mechanisms may be involved in intestinal obstruction due to progressive disease:²⁰⁰

- intraluminal obstruction
- intramural obstruction
- extramural obstruction
- motility disorders
- constipation.

8.1 SURGICAL MANAGEMENT

There is no clear evidence nor consensus on the surgical management of patients with advanced cancer. Surgery can only benefit selected patients with mechanical obstruction and should not be routine practice.²⁰⁰

Prognostic criteria to help select patients who are likely to benefit from surgical intervention have been identified. They are given for guidance and may not cover the complexities of an individual situation.²⁰¹⁻²⁰⁵ 2⁺ Each contraindication stands alone (see Table 3).

1++

Surgery for malignant bowel obstruction in patients with advanced ovarian cancer must be justified on the basis of achieving a significant benefit.

Table 3: Contraindications to surgery for malignant bowel obstruction in patients with advanced ovarian cancer

Absolute contraindications
Absolute contrainaications

Patient refusal

Previous abdominal surgery which showed diffuse metastatic cancer

Involvement of proximal stomach

Intra-abdominal carcinomatosis demonstrated radiologically with a contrast study revealing a severe motility problem

Diffuse palpable intra-abdominal masses (having excluded faecal masses)

Massive ascites which rapidly recurs after drainage

Relative contraindications

Non-symptomatic extensive extra-abdominal malignant disease (eg widespread metastases and pleural effusion)

Poor general performance status

Poor nutritional status (eg marked weight loss/cachexia, marked hypoalbuminaemia and low lymphocyte count)

Severe cachexia

Small bowel obstruction

Previous radiotherapy of the abdomen or pelvis

8.2 NON-SURGICAL MANAGEMENT

Symptoms of bowel obstruction (general abdominal pain, colic, nausea, vomiting, anorexia, dehydration) in women in whom surgery is not considered to be an option can be managed by pharmacological means.²⁰⁶ Usually the onset of bowel obstruction is gradual over many weeks with symptoms becoming more continuous and severe.

2+

8.2.1 PAIN, NAUSEA AND VOMITING

The clinical aim is to control nausea, reduce the frequency and severity of vomiting to an acceptable level and to avoid a nasogastric tube (NGT), by using corticosteroids, antiemetic or antisecretory drugs. The route of drug delivery should be parenteral, normally by subcutaneous infusion.

A Cochrane review concluded that there was weak evidence that corticosteroids (dexamethasone 6-16 mg intravenously) may help the resolution of inoperable obstruction in some patients and the side effects of treatment were few.²⁰⁷

Antiemetics are effective in controlling nausea.²⁰⁸ Cyclizine is the first line antiemetic often used with a single bedtime dose of haloperidol. Levomepromazine in a single, low dose at bedtime is helpful when nausea receptor persists. There does not appear to be a routine role for 5-HT₃ antagonists (eg ondansetron) in managing nausea subsequent to obstruction.

Two trials have examined the antisecretory effects of octreotide and hyoscine butylbromide in patients with inoperable bowel obstruction. In one study all patients in the trial had an NGT²⁰⁹ and in the other trial no patient had an NGT.²¹⁰ Octreotide was more effective and faster than hyoscine butylbromide in reducing the amount of gastrointestinal secretions in patients with NGTs. Octreotide was also more effective than hyoscine butylbromide in reducing the intensity of nausea and the number of vomiting episodes in patients without an NGT.²¹⁰

Nasogastric tubes are an ineffective means of controlling nausea and vomiting in malignant bowel obstruction.^{211,212} NGTs are occasionally used in faeculant vomiting (the vomiting of small bowel contents infected by colonic bacteria), gastric outflow obstruction, or persistent vomiting whilst waiting for the delayed action of pharmacological agents.

Regular mouth care is the treatment of choice for dry mouth.²¹³ Parenteral hydration is sometimes indicated in patients who have nausea.

When laxatives are used in partial obstruction, the dose should be adjusted to maintain a comfortable stool without colic. Lactulose may add to the bowel volume. A combination of senna and docusate, or docusate alone should be used if colic is a problem.²⁰⁸ In complete, inoperable obstruction, all laxatives should be stopped.

Pain (visceral and colic) can often be controlled using analgesic drugs most often given by syringe driver.
 Colic is a common problem. It is not relieved by strong opioids, but responds rapidly to parenteral hyoscine butylbromide. In complete, inoperable obstruction this can be given as a continuous subcutaneous infusion.²⁰⁸
 Involvement of the coeliac plexus can cause a severe visceral neuropathic pain that may partly respond to opioids or need an anti-neuropathic pain agent such as gabapentin.²¹⁴ For a more detailed discussion of pain assessment and management see SIGN guideline number 106 on the control of pain in patients with cancer.²¹⁵

- C Symptoms of bowel obstruction can be relieved by using the following drug categories either alone or in combination:
 - antiemetic
 - antisecretory
 - analgesic
 - corticosteroids.

9 **Provision of information**

This section reflects the issues likely to be of most concern to patients and their carers. These points are provided for use by health professionals when discussing ovarian cancer with patients and carers and in guiding the production of locally produced information materials.

9.1 CHECKLIST FOR PROVISION OF INFORMATION

This section gives examples of the information patients/carers may find helpful at the key stages of the patient journey. The checklist was designed by members of the guideline development group based on their experience and their understanding of the evidence base. The checklist is neither exhaustive nor exclusive.

Initial presentation

- After examination and assessment of the clinical picture, advise the patient of the need for referral to a specialist and how long they should expect to wait.
- Explain what will happen at the appointment with a specialist.
- When referring a patient with suspected cancer to a specialist service, primary healthcare professionals should assess the patient's need for continuing support while waiting for referral.

Referral

- Explain to the patient that a physical examination will be carried out and one or more diagnostic tests including:
 - serum CA125 level
 - ultrasound assessment
 - the Risk of Malignancy scoring system
 - computed tomography (CT scan).

Diagnosis

- Inform the patient that they can bring a partner or family member or friend with them to their appointment if they wish.
- Ensure the patient understands what ovarian cancer is, including genetic risk.
- Explain to the patient that further tests may be done to 'stage' the cancer and that this helps to establish the stage to which the cancer has grown and perhaps spread.
- Discuss treatment options with the patient, taking into account their individual needs and preferences. Offer written and verbal information outlining a clear pathway of how they will be treated and cared for. The amount of information given should be appropriate to their wishes, level of understanding, and delivered in a way which is sensitive, understandable to them, and accurate.
- Allow sufficient time to discuss the following issues and ensure the patient is involved in discussions:
 - aims of treatments
 - prognosis (if the patient wishes)
 - depression and anxiety.
- Ensure the patient is aware that there may be a need for other surgery in addition to the planned surgery, for example, the need for colostomy.
- Ensure the patient is aware of where to go to for further information and support including counselling services (*see section 9.2*).
- Ensure the patient is aware of the support role of the clinical nurse specialist.

Treatment

- Inform the patient of their treatment plans and advise them of the time frame for treatment.
- Advise the patient of the opportunity for family involvement if they wish them to be involved.
- Discuss adjuvant chemotherapy/radiotherapy, its procedures and adverse side effects.
- Discuss side effects of other treatments with the patient and how they can be managed.
- Advise the patient how they will be prepared for surgery.
- Inform the patient of activities they can and cannot do after surgery, for example housework, exercise, driving.
- Discuss the following with the patient:
 - body image
 - sexual function
 - fertility and fertility conserving surgery (if this is an option for the patient)
 - hormone replacement.
- Ensure the patient understands the importance of attending ongoing follow-up appointments after discharge and inform them of how they are likely to be followed up, ie by whom, where and when.

Follow up

- Advise the patient that they will receive a physical examination and be asked about signs and symptoms.
- Advise the patient that they should report any concerns they have following treatment.
- Mention and discuss the fear of recurrence and advise the patient that recurrent symptoms should be reported.
- The following issues should be discussed with the patient:
 - returning to work
 - financial issues
 - coping, depression, anxiety and fatigue.

Palliative care

- The following should only be discussed with the patient if they require palliative care:
 - aim of palliative care
 - who is likely to be involved in their care
 - symptom management
 - management of side effects.
- Advise the patient of the availability of Macmillan nurses etc.
- Advise the patient and carers about the availability of aids and equipment for the home and who to contact to arrange these.

9.2 SOURCES OF FURTHER INFORMATION

Cancer Research UK

Angel Building, 407 St John Street London EC1V 4AD Tel: 020 7242 0200 www.cancerresearchuk.org

Cancer Research UK funds research into cancer, campaigns on cancer issues and produces patient information leaflets.

Macmillan Cancer Support in Scotland

132 Rose Street Edinburgh, EH2 3JD Tel: 0131 260 3720 or 0808 808 00 00 www.macmillan.org.uk

Macmillan Cancer Support supports people with cancer (and their families) with practical, medical, emotional and financial advice.

Maggie's Centres Scotland

www.maggiescentres.org • Email: enquiries@maggiescentres.org

Maggie's provides practical, emotional and social support to people with cancer, their family and friends. Built alongside NHS cancer hospitals and staffed with professional experts, Maggie's Centres are warm and welcoming, full of light and open space, with a big kitchen table at their heart.

Maggie's Dundee

Tom McDonald Avenue, Ninewells Hospital Dundee DD2 1NH Tel: 01382 632999 Email: dundee@maggiescentres.org

Maggie's Edinburgh

The Stables, Western General Hospital, Crewe Road South Edinburgh EH4 2XU Tel: 0131 537 3131 Email: edinburgh@maggiescentres.org

Maggie's Fife

Victoria Hospital, Hayfield Road Kirkcaldy KY2 5AH Tel: 01592 647997 Email: fife@maggiescentres.org

Maggie's Glasgow

Gartnavel General Hospital, 1053 Great Western Road Glasgow G12 0YN Tel: 0141 357 2269 Email: glasgow@maggiescentres.org

Maggie's Highlands

Raigmore Hospital, Old Perth Road Inverness IV2 3UJ Tel: 01463 706306 Email: highlands@maggiescentres.org

Maggie's Lanarkshire

Flat 78, Residential Accommodation, Wishaw General Hospital, 50 Netherton Road Wishaw ML2 ODP Tel: 01698 358392 Email: lanarkshire@maggiescentres.org

Marie Curie Cancer Care (Scotland)

14 Links Place Edinburgh EH6 7EB Tel: 0131 561 3900 www.mariecurie.org.uk

Marie Curie Cancer Care provides practical nursing care at home and specialist care across ten Marie Curie centres

NHS Inform

www.nhsinform.co.uk/

The organisation provides quality-assured health information for the public.

Ovacome

Suite B5, City Cloisters, 196 Old Street London, EC1V 9FR Supportline: 0845 371 0054 or 0207 299 6650 • Tel: 0207 299 6654 www.ovacome.org.uk • Email: ovacome@ovacome.org.uk Email: support@ovacome.org.uk

Ovacome is a UK wide charity providing information and support for all those affected by ovarian cancer including patients, relatives, carers and health professionals. A newsletter is produced four times a year and fact sheets on many aspects of ovarian cancer are available on request.

Ovarian Cancer Action

8-12 Camden High Street London, NW1 0JP Help line: 0300 456 4700 • Tel: 0207 380 1730 www.ovarian.org.uk • Email: info@ovarian.org.uk

Ovarian Cancer Action is a leading UK ovarian cancer charity. Their focus is on improving the prognosis of all women diagnosed with ovarian cancer. They fund the UK's first research centre dedicated solely to ovarian cancer at Imperial College, London.

Ovarian Lets Shout for Linda

3 Warwick, Calderwood East Kilbride G74 3PZ Tel: 01355 249007 www.ovarianletsshoutforlinda.co.uk • Email: mail@ovarianletsshoutforlinda.co.uk

This is a Scottish charity dedicated to ovarian cancer by raising awareness of it, by working with communities and disseminating information to actively advocate and champion prevention, screening and early diagnostic testing.

Target Ovarian Cancer

30 Angel Gate London, EC1V 2PT Tel: 020 7923 5470 • Fax: 020 7923 5471 www.targetovariancancer.org.uk • Email: info@targetovarian.org.uk

Target Ovarian Cancer is the national ovarian cancer charity providing help and support to women and their families. They offer a range of information for patients, carers and healthcare professionals.

The Eve Appeal 15B Berghem Mews, Blythe Road London, W14 0HN Tel: 020 7605 0100 www.eveappeal.org.uk • Email: office@eveappeal.org.uk

This charity promotes awareness of gynaecological cancers and produces a range of information for patients, their families and the public. They work in partnership with other organisations to improve the healthcare and support of women.

10 Implementing the guideline

This section provides advice on the resource implications associated with implementing the key clinical recommendations, and advice on audit as a tool to aid implementation.

10.1 IMPLEMENTATION STRATEGY

Implementation of national clinical guidelines is the responsibility of each NHS Board and is an essential part of clinical governance. Mechanisms should be in place to review care provided against the guideline recommendations. The reasons for any differences should be assessed and addressed where appropriate. Local arrangements should then be made to implement the national guideline in individual hospitals, units and practices.

Implementation of this guideline will be encouraged and supported by SIGN. The implementation strategy for this guideline encompasses the following tools and activities.

10.2 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS OF KEY RECOMMENDATIONS

No recommendations are considered likely to reach the £5 million threshold which warrants full cost impact analysis.

The recommendation in section 6.2.4 relating to treatment with carboplatin AUC 6 and paclitaxel 80mg/ m² may have resource implications, particularly in terms of staffing, as women undergoing this treatment would need to attend weekly for 18 weeks instead of for six visits. The resource implications will be greater if the results of ongoing clinical trials identify this regimen as the standard of care.

10.3 AUDITING CURRENT PRACTICE

A first step in implementing a clinical practice guideline is to gain an understanding of current clinical practice. Audit tools designed around guideline recommendations can assist in this process. Audit tools should be comprehensive but not time consuming to use. Successful implementation and audit of guideline recommendations requires good communication between staff and multidisciplinary team working.

Following publication of the Quality Performance Indicators (QPIs) for Ovarian Cancer in Scotland, the guideline development group has identified that the eight published QPIs should form the basis for audit work in Scotland as these reflect key aspects of care identified in this guideline.²¹⁶

10.4 ADDITIONAL ADVICE TO NHSSCOTLAND FROM HEALTHCARE IMPROVEMENT SCOTLAND AND THE SCOTTISH MEDICINES CONSORTIUM

In October 2015 the SMC advised that bevacizumab (Avastin) is accepted for restricted use within NHSScotland in combination with carboplatin and paclitaxel, for the front-line treatment of patients with FIGO stage IV epithelial ovarian disease.

www.scottishmedicines.org.uk/medicines-advice/bevacizumab-avastin-resubmission-80612/

In August 2017 SMC accepted bevacizumab for restricted use within NHSScotland. Indication under review: in combination with paclitaxel, topotecan, or PLDH for the treatment of adult patients with platinum-resistant recurrent epithelial ovarian, fallopian tube, or primary peritoneal cancer who received no more than two prior chemotherapy regimens and who have not received prior therapy with bevacizumab or other vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) inhibitors or VEGF receptor-targeted agents. SMC restriction: to use in combination with paclitaxel.

www.scottishmedicines.org.uk/medicines-advice/bevacizumab-avastin-fullsubmission-106315/

In August 2017 SMC advised that bevacizumab is not recommended for use within NHSScotland in combination with carboplatin and paclitaxel for the treatment of adult patients with first recurrence of platinum-sensitive epithelial, ovarian, fallopian tube or primary peritoneal cancer who have not received prior therapy with bevacizumab or other VEGF inhibitors or VEGF receptor-targeted agents. This is due to the absence of a submission from the holder of the marketing authorisation.

www.scottishmedicines.org.uk/medicines-advice/bevacizumab-avastin-nonsubmission-127517/

In March 2013 SMC advised that bevacizumab is not recommended for use within NHSScotland in combination with carboplatin and gemcitabine, for treatment of adult patients with first recurrence of platinum-sensitive epithelian ovarian, fallopian tube or primary peritoneal cancer who have not received prior therapy with bevacizumab or other VEGF inhibitors or VEGF receptor-targeted agents.

www.scottishmedicines.org.uk/media/1325/bevacizumab_avastin_final_february_2013_for_website.pdf

In November 2016 SMC accepted olaparib for monotherapy for the maintenance treatment of adult patients with platinum-sensitive relapsed BRCA-mutated (germline and/or somatic) high-grade serous epithelial ovarian, fallopian tube, or primary peritoneal cancer who are in response (complete response or partial response) to platinum-based chemotherapy. This SMC advice takes account of the benefits of a Patient Access Scheme (PAS) that improves the cost-effectiveness of olaparib, and is contingent upon the continuing availability of the PAS in NHSScotland or a list price that is equivalent or lower. This advice takes account of the views from a Patient and Clinician Engagement (PACE) meeting.

www.scottishmedicines.org.uk/medicines-advice/olaparib-lynparza-resubmission-104715/

In August 2018 SMC accepted niraparib as monotherapy for the maintenance treatment of adult patients with platinum-sensitive relapsed high grade serous epithelial ovarian, fallopian tube, or primary peritoneal cancer who are in response (complete or partial) to platinum-based chemotherapy. Use is restricted to patients who do not have a germline *BRCA* mutation. This advice takes account of the benefits of a Patient Access Scheme (PAS) that improves the cost-effectiveness of niraparib. This advice is contingent upon the continuing availability of the PAS in NHS Scotland or a list price that is equivalent or lower. This advice takes account of views from a Patient and Clinician Engagement (PACE) meeting.

www.scottishmedicines.org.uk/media/3650/niraparib-tosylate-monohydrate-zejula-final-july-2018-amended-240718-for-website.pdf

11 The evidence base

11.1 SYSTEMATIC LITERATURE REVIEW

The evidence base for this guideline was synthesised in accordance with SIGN methodology. A systematic review of the literature was carried out using an explicit search strategy devised by a SIGN Evidence and Information Scientist. Databases searched include Medline, Embase, Cinahl, PsycINFO and the Cochrane Library. The year range covered was 2003-2012. Internet searches were carried out on various websites including the US National Guidelines Clearinghouse. The main searches were supplemented by material identified by individual members of the development group. Each of the selected papers was evaluated by two members of the group using standard SIGN methodological checklists before conclusions were considered as evidence.

11.1.1 LITERATURE SEARCH FOR PATIENT ISSUES

At the start of the guideline development process, a SIGN Evidence and Information Scientist conducted a literature search for qualitative and quantitative studies that addressed patient issues of relevance to early management of patients with epithelial ovarian cancer. Databases searched include Medline, Embase, Cinahl and PsycINFO, and the results were summarised and presented to the guideline development group.

11.2 RECOMMENDATIONS FOR RESEARCH

The guideline development group was not able to identify sufficient evidence to answer all of the key questions asked in this guideline (*see Annex 1*). The following areas for further research have been identified:

- What is the effect of ultra radical versus standard radical surgery on outcomes in patients with advanced ovarian cancer?
- What are the implications for training of gynaecological oncologists and cross-specialty working with surgeons skilled in bowel resection, diaphragmatic stripping, liver mobilisation and upper abdominal surgery if increasing numbers of women in Scotland receive ultra radical cytoreductive surgery and what are the implications for patients who would be expected to have higher morbidity rates and require additional high dependency or intensive care perioperatively?
- What is the best pathway for assessment and management of patients with a mildly elevated RMI 1 (below the original scoring development threshold of 200) who may have benign disease or early malignancy?
- Further validation of newer morphological scoring systems that may supersede RMI 1.
- Which women are most likely to benefit (in terms of survival and quality of life end points) from hormonal therapy and how does it compare to chemotherapy in platinum-resistant disease?
- What is the optimal duration of therapy with bevacizumab and are there predictive markers of benefit to bevacizumab?
- What is the optimal chemotherapy regimen for low-grade serous, clear cell and mucinous histological subtypes of ovarian cancer?

11.3 REVIEW AND UPDATING

This guideline was issued in 2013 and will be considered for review in three years. The review history, and any updates to the guideline in the interim period, will be noted in the review report, which is available in the supporting material section for this guideline on the SIGN website: **www.sign.ac.uk**

Comments on new evidence that would update this guideline are welcome and should be sent to the SIGN Executive, Gyle Square, 1 South Gyle Crescent, Edinburgh, EH12 9EB (email: sign@sign.ac.uk).

12 Development of the guideline

12.1 INTRODUCTION

SIGN is a collaborative network of clinicians, other healthcare professionals and patient organisations and is part of Healthcare Improvement Scotland. SIGN guidelines are developed by multidisciplinary groups of practising clinicians using a standard methodology based on a systematic review of the evidence. Further details about SIGN and the guideline development methodology are contained in SIGN 50: A Guideline Developer's Handbook, available at **www.sign.ac.uk**.

12.2 THE GUIDELINE DEVELOPMENT GROUP

Dr Nadeem Siddiqui <i>(Chair)</i>	Consultant Gynaecologist and Oncologist, Glasgow Royal Infirmary
Ms Sandra Bredin	Clinical Nurse Specialist, Glasgow Royal Infirmary
Ms Beatrice Cant	Programme Manager, SIGN
Dr En Hsun Choi	Consultant Radiologist, Forth Valley Royal Hospital, Larbert
Dr Scott Fegan	Consultant Gynaecological Oncologist, Royal Infirmary of Edinburgh
Dr Michelle Ferguson	Consultant Medical Oncologist, Ninewells Hospital, Dundee
Dr Rosalind Glasspool	Consultant Medical Oncologist and Honorary Senior Lecturer, Beatson Oncology Centre, Glasgow
Professor Charlie Gourley	Professor and Honorary Consultant in Medical Oncology, Western General Hospital, Edinburgh
Dr Karen Gray	Consultant Radiologist, Crosshouse Hospital, Kilmarnock
Dr Rhona Lindsay	SpR, sub-specialty trainee, Department of Gynaecological Oncology, Glasgow Royal Infirmary
Ms Maureen Mackay	Patient Representative
Ms Dianna Manson	Patient Representative
Dr Zosia Miedzybrodzka	Reader in Medical Genetics, University of Aberdeen
Dr David Millan	Consultant Pathologist, Southern General Hospital, Glasgow
Dr David Parkin	Consultant Gynaecological Oncologist, Aberdeen Royal Infirmary
Dr Nicholas Reed	Clinical Oncologist, Gartnavel General Hospital, Glasgow
Ms Diane Stirling	Principal Genetic Counsellor, Western General Hospital, Edinburgh
Mrs Lynne Smith	Evidence and Information Scientist, SIGN
Dr Valerie Wareham	Consultant Gynaecologist, Raigmore Hospital, Inverness
Professor David Weller	Head, School of Clinical Sciences and Community Health, General Practice Section, University of Edinburgh

The membership of the guideline development group was confirmed following consultation with the member organisations of SIGN. All members of the guideline development group made declarations of interest and further details of these are available on request from the SIGN Executive.

Guideline development and literature review expertise, support and facilitation were provided by the SIGN Executive. All members of the SIGN Executive make yearly declarations of interest and further details of these are available on request.

Lesley Forsyth	Events Coordinator
Karen Graham	Patient Involvement Officer
Gemma Hardie	Distribution and Office Coordinator
Stuart Neville	Publications Designer
Gaynor Rattray	Guideline Coordinator

12.2.1 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

SIGN would like to acknowledge the guideline development group responsible for the development of SIGN 75: Epithelial ovarian cancer, on which this guideline is based and the following individual who contributed to the development of the guideline.

Mr Stephen Hay Lay Representative, Coatbridge

12.3 CONSULTATION AND PEER REVIEW

12.3.1 PUBLIC CONSULTATION

The draft guideline was available on the SIGN website for a month to allow all interested parties to comment. All contributors made declarations of interest and further details of these are available on request from the SIGN Executive.

12.3.2 SPECIALIST REVIEW

This guideline was also reviewed in draft form by the following independent expert referees, who were asked to comment primarily on the comprehensiveness and accuracy of interpretation of the evidence base supporting the recommendations in the guideline. The guideline group addresses every comment made by an external reviewer, and must justify any disagreement with the reviewers' comments. All expert referees made declarations of interest and further details of these are available on request from the SIGN Executive.

SIGN is very grateful to all of these experts for their contribution to the guideline.

Mr Desmond Barton	Consultant Surgeon, Gynaecology Unit, The Royal Marsden, London
Dr Patrick Cadigan	Registrar, on behalf of the Royal College of Physicians, London
Professor Stan Kaye	Head of the Division of Clinical Studies, Institute of Cancer Research, and Consultant Medical Oncologist, The Royal Marsden, London
Professor Sean Kehoe	Lawson Tait Professor of Gynaecological Cancer, The University of Birmingham
Mrs Kirsty MacFarlane	Principal Pharmacist, on behalf of the Scottish Medicines Consortium, Glasgow
Professor lain McNeish	Professor of Gynaecological Oncology, Institute of Cancer Sciences, University of Glasgow
Dr Lindsey Pope	Senior Clinical University Teacher, General Practice and Primary Care, University of Glasgow
Dr Mary Porteous	Consultant Clinical Geneticist, Western General Hospital, Edinburgh

12.3.3 SIGN EDITORIAL GROUP

As a final quality control check, the guideline is reviewed by an editorial group comprising the relevant specialty representatives on SIGN Council to ensure that the specialist reviewers' comments have been addressed adequately and that any risk of bias in the guideline development process as a whole has been minimised. The editorial group for this guideline was as follows:

Professor Keith Brown	Chair of SIGN; Co-Editor
Dr Sara Twaddle	Director of SIGN; Co-Editor
Dr Roberta James	Programme Lead, SIGN; Co-Editor
Dr Tahir Mahmood	Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists in Scotland
Ms Fiona McMillan	Royal Pharmaceutical Society

All members of the SIGN Editorial group make yearly declarations of interest and further details of these are available on request from the SIGN Executive.

Abbreviations

ACTION	Adjuvant ChemoTherapy in Ovarian Neoplasm trial
AFP	alpha fetoprotein
BNF	British National Formulary
BRCA1 or 2	BRCA1, a gene on chromosome 17; BRCA2, a gene on chromosome 13. Mutations in BRCA1 and BRCA2 increase susceptibility to breast and ovarian cancer
BS	bilateral salpingectomy
CA125	A glycoprotein antigen. Measurement of CA125 is the blood test most widely used to detect ovarian cancer
CEA	carcinoembryonic antigen
CI	confidence interval
СТ	computed tomography
ECOG	Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group
FIGO	International Federation of Gynecology and Obstetrics
GMC	General Medical Council
GOG 262	Paclitaxel and Carboplatin With or Without Bevacizumab in Treating Patients With Stage II, Stage III, or Stage IV Ovarian Epithelial Cancer, Primary Peritoneal Cancer, or Fallopian Tube Cancer Phase III Trial
GP	general practitioner
hCG	human chorionic gonadotropin
HNCC	Hereditary Nonpolyposis Colorectal Cancer
HR	hazard ratio
HRT	hormone replacement therapy
IP	intraperitoneal
ICON	International Collaborative Ovarian Neoplasm trial
IV	intravenous
LHRH	luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone
LR+	positive likelihood ratio
LR-	negative likelihood ratio
MEK 1/2	mitogen-activated protein kinase/extracellular signal-regulated kinase kinase
міто	Multicentre Italian Trials in Ovarian Cancer
MRI	magnetic resonance imaging
MDT	multidisciplinary team
NACT	neoadjuvant chemotherapy
NGT	naso-gastric tube
NICE	National Institute for Health and Care Excellence
NPV	negative predictive value
OR	odds ratio

OS	overall survival
PACE	Patient and Clinical Engagement
PARP	poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase
PAS	Patient Access Scheme
PDS	primary debulking surgery
PET	positron emission tomography
PET-CT	positron emission tomography-computed tomography
PFS	progression-free survival
PLDH	pegylated liposomal doxorubicin hydrocholoride
PPV	positive predictive value
QoL	quality of life
QPI	Quality Performance Indicator
RAD51C or D	genes essential for homologous recombination of DNA and DNA repair
RCT	randomised controlled trial
051	
RFI	recurrence-free interval
RFI	recurrence-free interval recurrence-free survival
RFS	recurrence-free survival
RFS RMI	recurrence-free survival Risk of Malignancy Index
RFS RMI RR	recurrence-free survival Risk of Malignancy Index risk ratio
RFS RMI RR SAE	recurrence-free survival Risk of Malignancy Index risk ratio serious adverse effects
RFS RMI RR SAE SCS	recurrence-free survival Risk of Malignancy Index risk ratio serious adverse effects secondary cancer surgery
RFS RMI RR SAE SCS SMC	recurrence-free survival Risk of Malignancy Index risk ratio serious adverse effects secondary cancer surgery Scottish Medicines Consortium

Annex 1

Key questions addressed in this update

This guideline is based on a series of structured key questions that define the target population, the intervention, diagnostic test, or exposure under investigation, the comparison(s) used and the outcomes used to measure efficacy, effectiveness, or risk. These questions form the basis of the systematic literature search.

Key question	See guideline section
1. Which patients with ovarian cancer should be considered for genetic testing?	3.2
2. In <i>BRCA</i> mutation carriers can salpingectomy be used to reduce the risk of ovarian cancer while preserving fertility?	3.4
3. What combination of symptoms should prompt a GP to consider a diagnosis of ovarian cancer?	4.1.1
4. In patients with suspected ovarian cancer, which scoring system is the most useful for predicting malignancy and aiding management?	4.2.1
5. Is there any evidence that MRI or PET-CT is better than CT for the diagnosis and staging of ovarian cancer?	4.2.2
6. In women with suspected ovarian cancer is frozen section a reliable technique for accurate diagnosis/staging?	5.2.1
7. In women with presumed early stage or stage I ovarian cancer is there any evidence that systematic lymphadenectomy improves survival?	5.3.2
8. In patients with early stage ovarian cancer, how does fertility conserving surgery affect survival compared to more conventional surgery?	5.3.4
9. In patients with advanced ovarian cancer how does complete cytoreduction compared with standard cytoreductive surgery affect survival?	5.4.1
 In patients with advanced ovarian cancer how does neoadjuvant chemotherapy (NACT) followed by surgery compared with primary surgery affect survival, morbidity and quality of life? 	5.4.2
11. In patients with relapsed ovarian cancer how does surgery in addition to chemotherapy compared with chemotherapy alone affect survival and quality of life?	5.5
12. Which patients with early stage ovarian cancer do not benefit from adjuvant chemotherapy?	6.1
<i>Consider</i> : platinum (carboplatin), taxanes (paclitaxel), topotecan, bevacizumab, gemcitabine, trabectedin, pegylated liposomal doxorubicin; mono- and combination therapies (eg single agent carboplatin and combination of carboplatin and other drugs such as paclitaxel)	
13. In patients with advanced ovarian cancer what is the optimal chemotherapy regimen?	6.2.1-6.2.6
Consider:	
a) type of chemotherapy regimen (see list of drugs below)	
b) scheduling of chemotherapy (ie weekly or 3 weekly)	
c) maintenance chemotherapy	
Drugs: platinum (carboplatin), taxanes (paclitaxel), topotecan, bevacizumab,	
gemcitabine, trabectedin, pegylated liposomal doxorubicin; consider mono- and combination therapies (eg single agent carboplatin and combination of carboplatin	
and other drugs such as paclitaxel)	

14. In patients with advanced ovarian cancer is there any evidence of benefit for intraperitoneal administration of chemotherapy?	6.2.7
15. In patients with relapsed ovarian cancer what is the optimal chemotherapy regimen?	6.3
<i>Consider</i> : platinum (carboplatin), taxanes (paclitaxel), topotecan, bevacizumab, gemcitabine, trabectedin, pegylated liposomal doxorubicin; consider mono and combination therapies (eg single agent carboplatin and combination of carboplatin and other drugs such as paclitaxel)	
16. In patients with relapsed ovarian cancer is there any role for hormonal therapies? <i>Consider</i> : tamoxifen, aromatase inhibitors, Megace, LHRH analogues, letrozole	6.3.2
17. In women who have been treated for ovarian cancer does early treatment based on follow-up measurements (eg CA125 marker concentration, routine imaging) compared with later treatment based on symptomatic relapse improve patient outcomes in first relapse of disease?	7
<i>Consider</i> : frequency of follow up, different histological subgroups of patients and different stages	

Annex 2

Staging carcinoma of the ovary

INTERNATIONAL FEDERATION OF GYNAECOLOGY AND OBSTETRICS (FIGO) NOMENCLATURE⁸

Stage I - Growth limited to the ovaries la Growth limited to one ovary; no ascites containing malignant cells present. No tumour on the external surface; capsule intact. lb Growth limited to both ovaries; no ascites containing malignant cells present. No tumour on the external surfaces; capsules intact. lc* Tumour either Stage Ia or Ib, but with tumour on surface of one or both ovaries, or with capsule ruptured, or with ascites present containing malignant cells, or with positive peritoneal washings. Stage II - Growth involving one or both ovaries with pelvic extension lla Extension and/or metastases to the uterus and/or fallopian tubes llb Extension to other pelvic tissues llc * Tumour either Stage IIa or IIb, but with tumour on surface of one or both ovaries; or with capsule(s) ruptured; or with ascites present containing malignant cells or with positive peritoneal washings. Stage III - Tumour involving one or both ovaries with histologically confirmed peritoneal implants outside the pelvis and/or positive retroperitoneal or inguinal nodes. Superficial liver metastases equals stage II. Tumour is limited to the true pelvis, but with histologically proven malignant extension to small bowel or omentum. Tumour grossly limited to the true pelvis, with negative nodes, but with histologically confirmed Illa microscopic seeding of abdominal peritoneal surfaces, or histologically proven extension to small bowel or mesentery IIIb Tumour of one or both ovaries with histologically confirmed implants, peritoneal metastasis of abdominal peritoneal surfaces, none exceeding 2 cm in diameter; nodes are negative lllc Peritoneal metastasis beyond the pelvis >2 cm in diameter and/or positive retroperitoneal or inguinal nodes. Stage IV Growth involving one or both ovaries with distant metastases. If pleural effusion is present, there must be positive cytology to allot a case to Stage IV. Parenchymal liver metastasis equals Stage IV.

*In order to evaluate the impact on prognosis of the different criteria for allotting cases to Stage Ic or IIc, it would be of value to know if rupture of the capsule was spontaneous, or caused by the surgeon; and if the source of malignant cells detected was peritoneal washings, or ascites.

Annex 3

Classification of ovarian cancer

Ovarian neoplasms are a heterogeneous group of tumours classified according to morphological and clinical features. The main subgroups are:

- epithelial tumours
- sex cord–stromal tumours
- germ cell tumours
- miscellaneous and metastatic tumours.

The majority of ovarian tumours (approximately 60% of all ovarian tumours and up to 90% of all primary ovarian malignancies) are epithelial. Epithelial tumours can be further classified as follows:

- serous
- mucinous
- endometrioid
- carcinosarcoma
- clear cell
- transitional cell
- mixed epithelial
- undifferentiated carcinomas.

The most common tumours are serous lesions.

Carcinosarcomas are now considered to be carcinomas with areas of metaplastic sarcomatous differentiation. The terms mixed mesodermal tumour and malignant mixed Müllerian tumour are no longer recommended.

A **benign** tumour has no abnormal cytological or proliferative features and no evidence of stromal invasion. There is no significant malignant potential.

A **borderline** (low malignant potential or atypically proliferating) tumour is a lesion which has abnormal cytological and proliferative features within its epithelium but which has no evidence of invasion into the stromal supporting tissues. Extra-ovarian disease can occur and these tumour deposits are referred to as implants. Non-invasive implants, including non-invasive desmoplastic implants, are associated with a good prognosis. Invasive implants are usually deposits of low-grade serous carcinoma and are associated with adverse outcome. Most borderline tumours present as stage I lesions and are cured by surgery. Stage by stage the overall survival of women with borderline tumours is superior to women with epithelial ovarian cancer.

A **malignant** tumour is present when there is evidence of invasion into the stromal tissues of the ovary. This is usually associated with cytological atypia and increased proliferative activity. Invasion is best defined as the presence of irregular speculated or ragged epithelial islands with individual cells extending into the stromal tissues. These stromal tissues can display reactive changes such as necrosis or an immature fibroblastic response. These cytological and proliferative changes can occur focally with the ovarian mass. An ovarian tumour must be adequately sampled for histological examination.

Primary peritoneal cancer is a tumour which shows similar morphological characteristics to ovarian cancer but which has no or minimal ovarian involvement.

GRADING OF OVARIAN CANCER

There is no single universally accepted system for grading ovarian cancers. Many studies have used different systems proposed either by FIGO or WHO or the American Gynecologic Oncology Group (GOG). A proposed grading system, based on the Nottingham system of breast cancer grading, assesses the architectural pattern of the ovarian tumour, cytological atypia and the mitotic activity with the tumour.²¹⁷⁻²¹⁹ This system has not been widely accepted and is of doubtful prognostic value. Current recommendations are that serous carcinomas are graded as low and high grade; endometrioid and mucinous tumours are graded using the FIGO system for endometrioid carcinomas of the endometrium; and that clear cell carcinomas, carcinosarcomas and undifferentiated carcinomas are considered by definition grade 3.⁹¹ The FIGO staging system described in Annex 2 is a surgical staging system which does not incorporate the grade of the tumour.

SEROUS CARCINOMAS

It has become apparent that there are two distinct biological types of ovarian serous carcinoma referred to by some as type 1 and type 2. However, rather confusingly, they are more commonly referred to as low-grade and high-grade despite being two different biological entities. They can be distinguished by differences in architecture, cytology, mitotic activity and pattern of necrosis. There are also significant molecular differences with high-grade serous carcinomas being associated almost universally with *TP53* mutation and low-grade serous carcinomas often containing *BRAF* or *KRAS* mutations. High-grade tumours are much more common, making up approximately 90% of serous carcinomas.⁹¹

MUCINOUS CARCINOMAS

Primary mucinous carcinoma of the ovary is a rare tumour as many tumours are now recognised to represent metastatic tumours, often from the gastrointestinal tract. It is, in essence, a diagnosis by exclusion of a primary lesion elsewhere. Mucinous carcinomas are often found to have benign, borderline and malignant elements with the same tumour. This is not, however, proof of an origin at this site as metastatic mucinous tumours can exhibit a 'maturation phenomenon', producing a 'benign' or 'borderline' appearance.

IMMUNOHISTOCHEMICAL ANALYSIS

The different types of epithelial ovarian cancer can be identified by their immunohistochemical profile. A potentially useful panel of antibodies includes CK7, CK20, WT-1, Pax8, Ca125, ER, PR, p53, p16 and possibly HNF-1beta. A suitable combination of these potentially helpful antibodies can be used at the discretion of the reporting pathologist.

PSEUDOMYXOMA PERITONEI

Pseudomyxoma peritonei is a clinical condition characterised by the presence of mucinous material within the peritoneal cavity. This condition may originate from either the ovary or gastrointestinal tract. In gynaecological pathology it is more often seen in association with borderline mucinous ovarian tumours. In view of the debate about the primary site of origin of these tumours the appendix should be examined. Pathological examination of the mucinous material and associated tissues should specify whether epithelial cells are present or not. The cytological characteristics of the cells should also be described.

BRCA1 AND BRCA2

Germline mutations in *BRCA1*, a gene on chromosome 17 and *BRCA2*, a gene on chromosome 13, increase susceptibility to breast and ovarian cancer.

References

- Information Services Division, NHS National Services Scotland. Cancer in Scotland (April 2013). [cited 30 Sep 2013]. Available from url: http://www.isdscotland.org/Health-Topics/Cancer/ Publications/2013-04-30/Cancer_in_Scotland_summary_m.pdf
- Curado MP, Edwards B, Shin HR, Storm H, Ferlay J, Heanue M, et al. Cancer incidence in five continents Vol. IX. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer; 2007. (IARC Scientific Publications No. 160). [cited 30 Sep 2013]. Available from url: http://www.iarc. fr/en/publications/pdfs-online/epi/sp160/index.php
- Information Services Division, NHS National Services Scotland. Cancer Incidence in Scotland (2011). [cited 30 Sep 2013]. Available from url: http://www.isdscotland.org/Health-Topics/Cancer/ Publications/2013-04-30/2013-04-30-Cancer-Incidence-Report. pdf?50765627623
- Collaborative Group on Epidemiological Studies of Ovarian Cancer, Beral V, Doll R, Hermon C, Peto R, Reeves G. Ovarian cancer and oral contraceptives: collaborative reanalysis of data from 45 epidemiological studies including 23,257 women with ovarian cancer and 87,303 controls. Lancet 2008;371(9609):303-14.
- Thompson D, Easton DF, Breast Cancer Linkage Consortium. Cancer Incidence in BRCA1 mutation carriers. J Natl Cancer Inst 2002;94(18):1358-65.
- Junor EJ, Hole DJ, McNulty L, Mason M, Young J. Specialist gynaecologists and survival outcome in ovarian cancer: a Scottish national study of 1866 patients. Br J Obstet Gynaecol 1999;106(11):1130-6.
- Information Services Division, NHS National Services Scotland. Cancer statistics. Female genital organ cancer. [cited 30 Sep 2013]. Available from url: http://www.isdscotland.org/Health-Topics/ Cancer/Cancer-Statistics/Female-Genital-Organ/#ovary
- Benedet JL, Bender H, Jones H, 3rd, Ngan HY, Pecorelli S. FIGO staging classifications and clinical practice guidelines in the management of gynecologic cancers. FIGO Committee on Gynecologic Oncology. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 2000;70(2):209-62.
- Guidance on prescribing. In: The British National Formulary No. 65. London: British Medical Association and Royal Pharmaceutical Society of Great Britain; 2013.
- Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Off-label or unlicensed use of medicines: prescribers' responsibilities. Drug Safety Update 2009;2(9):6-7.
- Buys SS, Partridge E, Black A, Johnson CC, Lamerato L, Isaacs C, et al. Effect of screening on ovarian cancer mortality: the Prostate, Lung, Colorectal and Ovarian (PLCO) cancer screening randomized controlled trial. JAMA 2011;305(22):2295-303.
- Menon U, Gentry-Maharaj A, Hallett R, Ryan A, Burnell M, Sharma A, et al. Sensitivity and specificity of multimodal and ultrasound screening for ovarian cancer, and stage distribution of detected cancers: results of the prevalence screen of the UK Collaborative Trial of Ovarian Cancer Screening (UKCTOCS). Lancet Oncol 2009;10(4):327-40.
- Haites NE, Black R, Campbell H, Clark C, Davidson R, Davis J, et al. Guidelines for regional genetic centres on the implementation of genetic services for the breast, ovarian and colorectal cancer families in Scotland. CME J Gynecol Oncol 2000;5(3):291-307.

- Scottish Executive Health Department. Cancer Genetics Services in Scotland. Guidance to support the implementation of genetic services for breast, ovarian and colorectal cancer predisposition. NHS HDL (2001). [cited 30 Sep 2013]. Available from url: http:// www.sehd.scot.nhs.uk/mels/HDL2001_24Guide.pdf
- The Scottish Government. Cancer genetic services in Scotland Management of women with a family history of breast cancer. CEL 6 (2009). [cited 30 Sep 2013]. Available from url: http://www.sehd. scot.nhs.uk/mels/CEL2009_06.pdf
- 16. Morrison PJ, Hodgson SV, Haites NE, (editors). Familial breast and ovarian cancer: genetics, screening and management. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2002.
- 17. Loveday C, Turnbull C, Ruark E, Xicola RMM, Ramsay E, Hughes D, et al. Germline RAD51C mutations confer susceptibility to ovarian cancer. Nat Genet 2012;44(5):475-6.
- Antoniou A, Pharoah PDP, Narod S, Risch HA, Eyfjord JE, Hopper JL, et al. Average risks of breast and ovarian cancer associated with BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutations detected in case series unselected for family history: a combined analysis of 22 studies. Am J Hum Genet 2003;72(5):1117-30.
- Risch HA, McLaughlin JR, Cole DE, Rosen B, Bradley L, Kwan E, et al. Prevalence and penetrance of germline BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutations in a population series of 649 women with ovarian cancer. Am J Hum Genet 2001;68(3):700-10.
- 20. Risch HA, McLaughlin JR, Cole DE, al. e. Population BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutation frequencies and cancer penetrances: a kin-cohort study in Ontario, Canada. J Natl Cancer Inst 2006;98:1694-706.
- 21. van Asperen CJ, Brohet RM, Meijers-Heijboer EJ, Hoogerbrugge N, Verhoef S, Vasen HFA, et al. Cancer risks in BRCA2 families: estimates for sites other than breast and ovary. J Med Genet 2005;42(9):711-9.
- 22. Aarnio M, Sankila R, Pukkala E, Salovaara R, Aaltonen LA, de la Chapelle A, et al. Cancer risk in mutation carriers of DNA-mismatchrepair genes. Int J Cancer 1999;81(2):214-8.
- 23. Holland ML, Huston A, Noyes K. Cost-effectiveness of testing for breast cancer susceptibility genes. Value Health 2009;12(2):207-16.
- Evans DGR, Eccles DM, Rahman N, Young K, Bulman M, Amir E, et al. A new scoring system for the chances of identifying a BRCA1/2 mutation outperforms existing models including BRCAPRO. J Med Genet 2004;41(6):474-80.
- Alsop K, Fereday S, Meldrum C, deFazio A, Emmanuel C, George J, et al. BRCA mutation frequency and patterns of treatment response in BRCA mutation-positive women with ovarian cancer: a report from the Australian Ovarian Cancer Study Group. J Clin Oncol 2012;30(21):2654-63.
- Malander S, Ridderheim M, Masback A, Loman N, Kristoffersson U, Olsson H, et al. One in 10 ovarian cancer patients carry germline BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutations: results of a prospective study in Southern Sweden. Eur J Cancer 2004;40(3):422-8.
- 27. Pal T, Permuth-Wey J, Betts JA, Krischer JP, Fiorica J, Arango H, et al. BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutations account for a large proportion of ovarian carcinoma cases. Cancer 2005;104(12):2807-16.
- 28. Soegaard M, Kjaer SK, Cox M, Wozniak E, Hogdall E, Hogdall C, et al. BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutation prevalence and clinical characteristics of a population-based series of ovarian cancer cases from Denmark. Clin Cancer Res 2008;14(12):3761-7.
- 29. Walsh T, Casadei S, Lee MK, Pennil CC, Nord AS, Thornton AM, et al. Mutations in 12 genes for inherited ovarian, fallopian tube, and peritoneal carcinoma identified by massively parallel sequencing. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2011;108(44):18032-7.

- Lindor NM, Rabe K, Petersen GM, Haile R, Casey G, Baron J, et al. Lower cancer incidence in Amsterdam-I criteria families without mismatch repair deficiency: familial colorectal cancer type X. JAMA 2005;293(16):1979-85
- Vicus D, Finch A, Cass I, Rosen B, Murphy J, Fan I, et al. Prevalence of BRCA1 and BRCA2 germ line mutations among women with carcinoma of the fallopian tube. Gynecol Oncol 2010;118(3):299-302.
- 32. Elwyn G, Iredale R, Gray J. Reactions of GPs to a triage-controlled referral system for cancer genetics. Fam Pract 2002;19(1):65-71.
- Wonderling D, Hopwood P, Cull A, Douglas F, Watson M, Burn J, et al. A descriptive study of UK cancer genetics services: an emerging clinical response to the new genetics. Br J Cancer 2001;85(2):166-70.
- National Cancer Guidance Steering Group. Improving outcomes in gynaecological cancers: the research evidence. London: NHS Executive, Department of Health; 1999.
- Taylor L, Schwarz H. Identification of a soluble OX40 isoform: development of a specific and quantitative immunoassay. J Immunol Methods 2001;255(1-2):67-72.
- Karlan BY, Baldwin RL, Lopez-Luevanos E, Raffel LJ, Barbuto D, Narod S, et al. Peritoneal serous papillary carcinoma, a phenotypic variant of familial ovarian cancer: implications for ovarian cancer screening. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1999;180(4):917-28.
- Moller P, Borg A, Heimdal K, Apold J, Vallon-Christersson J, Hovig E, et al. The BRCA1 syndrome and other inherited breast or breastovarian cancers in a Norwegian prospective series. Eur J Cancer 2001;37(8):1027-32.
- Kauff ND, Satagopan JM, Robson ME, Scheuer L, Hensley M, Hudis CA, et al. Risk-reducing salpingo-oophorectomy in women with a BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutation. N Engl J Med 2002;346(21):1609-15.
- Rebbeck TR, Lynch HT, Neuhausen SL, Narod SA, Van't Veer L, Garber JE, et al. Prophylactic oophorectomy in carriers of BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutations. N Engl J Med 2002;346(21):1616-22.
- Eisen A, Lubinski J, Klijn J, Moller P, Lynch HT, Offit K, et al. Breast cancer risk following bilateral oophorectomy in BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutation carriers: an international case-control study. J Clin Oncol 2005;23(30):7491-6.
- 41. Greene MH, Mai PL, Schwartz PE. Does bilateral salpingectomy with ovarian retention warrant consideration as a temporary bridge to risk-reducing bilateral oophorectomy in BRCA1/2 mutation carriers? Am J Obstet Gynecol 2011;204(1):19.e1-6.
- 42. Tone AA, Salvador S, Finlayson SJ, Tinker AV, Kwon JS, Lee C-H, et al. The role of the fallopian tube in ovarian cancer. Clin Adv Hematol Oncol 2012;10(5):296-306.
- 43. Hallowell N. A qualitative study of the information needs of highrisk women undergoing prophylactic oophorectomy. Psycho-Oncology 2000;9(6):486-95.
- Fry A, Busby-Earle C, Rush R, Cull A. Prophylactic oophorectomy versus screening: psychosocial outcomes in women at increased risk of ovarian cancer. Psycho-Oncology 2001;10(3):231-41.
- 45. Wagner TM, Moslinger R, Langbauer G, Ahner R, Fleischmann E, Auterith A, et al. Attitude towards prophylactic surgery and effects of genetic counselling in families with BRCA mutations. Austrian Hereditary Breast and Ovarian Cancer Group. Br J Cancer 2000;82(7):1249-53.

- Olson SH, Mignone L, Nakraseive C, Caputo TA, Barakat RR, Harlap S. Symptoms of ovarian cancer. Obstet Gynecol 2001;98(2):212-7.
- 47. Flam F, Einhorn N, Sjovall K. Symptomatology of ovarian cancer. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 1988;27(1):53-7.
- 48. Goff BA, Mandel L, Muntz HG, Melancon CH. Ovarian carcinoma diagnosis. Cancer 2000;89(10):2068-75.
- 49. Hamilton W. Computer assisted diagnosis of ovarian cancer in primary care. BMJ 2012;344:d7628.
- 50. Bankhead CR, Kehoe ST, Austoker J. Symptoms associated with diagnosis of ovarian cancer: a systematic review. BJOG 2005;112(7):857-65.
- Andersen MR, Goff BA, Lowe KA, Scholler N, Bergan L, Drescher CW, et al. Use of a Symptom Index, CA125, and HE4 to predict ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol 2010;116(3):378-83.
- 52. Friedman GD, Skilling JS, Udaltsova NV, Smith LH. Early symptoms of ovarian cancer: a case-control study without recall bias. Fam Pract 2005;22(5):548-53.
- 53. Goff BA, Mandel LS, Drescher CW, Urban N, Gough S, Schurman KM, et al. Development of an ovarian cancer symptom index: possibilities for earlier detection. Cancer 2007;109(2):221-7.
- 54. Goff BA, Mandel LS, Melancon CH, Muntz HG. Frequency of symptoms of ovarian cancer in women presenting to primary care clinics. JAMA 2004;291(22):2705-12.
- 55. Hamilton W, Peters TJ, Bankhead C, Sharp D. Risk of ovarian cancer in women with symptoms in primary care: population based casecontrol study. BMJ 2009;339:b2998.
- 56. Hippisley-Cox J, Coupland C. Identifying women with suspected ovarian cancer in primary care: derivation and validation of algorithm. BMJ 2012;344:d8009.
- 57. Rossing MA, Wicklund KG, Cushing-Haugen KL, Weiss NS. Predictive value of symptoms for early detection of ovarian cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 2010;102(4):222-9.
- Kirwan JMJ, Tincello DG, Herod JJO, Frost O, Kingston RE. Effect of delays in primary care referral on survival of women with epithelial ovarian cancer: retrospective audit. BMJ 2002;324(7330):148-51.
- Bast RC, Jr., Klug TL, St John E, Jenison E, Niloff JM, Lazarus H, et al. A radioimmunoassay using a monoclonal antibody to monitor the course of epithelial ovarian cancer. N Engl J Med 1983;309(15):883-7.
- 60. Daoud E, Bodor G. CA-125 concentrations in malignant and nonmalignant disease. Clin Chem 1991;37(11):1968-74.
- 61. Sturgeon C. Practice guidelines for tumor marker use in the clinic. Clin Chem 2002;48(8):1151-9.
- 62. Jacobs I, Bast RC, Jr. The CA 125 tumour-associated antigen: a review of the literature. Hum Reprod 1989;4(1):1-12.
- 63. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE). Ovarian cancer: The recognition and initial management of ovarian cancer. London: NICE; 2011. (NICE Guideline CG122). [cited 30 Sep 2013]. Available from url: http://publications.nice.org.uk/ovarian-cancercg122
- 64. Jacobs I, Oram D, Fairbanks J, Turner J, Frost C, Grudzinskas JG. A risk of malignancy index incorporating CA 125, ultrasound and menopausal status for the accurate preoperative diagnosis of ovarian cancer. Br J Obstet Gynaecol 1990;97(10):922-9.

- 65. Tingulstad S, Hagen B, Skjeldestad FE, Onsrud M, Kiserud T, Halvorsen T, et al. Evaluation of a risk of malignancy index based on serum CA125, ultrasound findings and menopausal status in the pre-operative diagnosis of pelvic masses. Br J Obstet Gynaecol 1996;103(8):826-31.
- 66. Geomini P, Kruitwagen R, Bremer GL, Cnossen J, Mol BW. The accuracy of risk scores in predicting ovarian malignancy: a systematic review. Obstet Gynecol 2009;113(2 Pt 1):384-94.
- Dodge JE, Covens AL, Lacchetti C, Elit LM, Le T, Devries-Aboud M, et al. Preoperative identification of a suspicious adnexal mass: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Gynecol Oncol 2012;126(1):157-66.
- Moolthiya W, Yuenyao P. The risk of malignancy index (RMI) in diagnosis of ovarian malignancy. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 2009;10(5):865-8.
- Yamamoto Y, Yamada R, Oguri H, Maeda N, Fukaya T. Comparison of four malignancy risk indices in the preoperative evaluation of patients with pelvic masses. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2009;144(2):163-7.
- 70. Kader Ali Mohan GR, Jaaback K, Proietto A, Robertson R, Angstetra D. Risk Malignancy Index (RMI) in patients with abnormal pelvic mass: Comparing RMI 1, 2 and 3 in an Australian population. Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol 2010;50(1):77-80.
- 71. Liu J, Xu Y, Wang J. Ultrasonography, computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging for diagnosis of ovarian carcinoma. Eur J Radiol 2007;62(3):328-34.
- Medeiros LR, Freitas LB, Rosa DD, Silva FR, Silva LS, Birtencourt LT, et al. Accuracy of magnetic resonance imaging in ovarian tumor: a systematic quantitative review. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2011;204(1):67.e1-10.
- 73. Myers ER, Bastian LA, Havrilesky LJ, Kulasingam SL, Terplan MS, Cline KE, et al. Management of adnexal mass. Evid Rep Technol Assess (Full Rep) 2006(130):1-145.
- 74. Forstner R, Sala E, Kinkel K, Spencer JA. ESUR guidelines: Ovarian cancer staging and follow-up. Eur Radiol 2010;20(12):2773-80.
- Iyer VR, Lee SI. MRI, CT, and PET/CT for ovarian cancer detection and adnexal lesion characterization. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2010;194(2):311-21.
- Musto A, Rampin L, Nanni C, Marzola MC, Fanti S, Rubello D. Present and future of PET and PET/CT in gynaecologic malignancies. Eur J Radiol 2011;78(1):12-20.
- Kitajima K, Murakami K, Sakamoto S, Kaji Y, Sugimura K. Present and future of FDG-PET/CT in ovarian cancer. Ann Nucl Med 2011;25(3):155-64.
- Nam EJ, Yun MJ, Oh YT, Kim JW, Kim JH, Kim S, et al. Diagnosis and staging of primary ovarian cancer: correlation between PET/CT, Doppler US, and CT or MRI. Gynecol Oncol 2010;116(3):389-94.
- 79. Castellucci P, Perrone AM, Picchio M, Ghi T, Farsad M, Nanni C, et al. Diagnostic accuracy of 18F-FDG PET/CT in characterizing ovarian lesions and staging ovarian cancer: correlation with transvaginal ultrasonography, computed tomography, and histology. Nucl Med Commun 2007;28(8):589-95.
- Kitajima K, Murakami K, Yamasaki E, Kaji Y, Fukasawa I, Inaba N, et al. Diagnostic accuracy of integrated FDG-PET/contrast-enhanced CT in staging ovarian cancer: comparison with enhanced CT. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2008;35(10):1912-20.

- Yuan Y, Gu ZX, Tao XF, Liu SY. Computer tomography, magnetic resonance imaging, and positron emission tomography or positron emission tomography/computer tomography for detection of metastatic lymph nodes in patients with ovarian cancer: A metaanalysis. Eur J Radiol 2012;81(5):1002-6.
- Hynninen J, Auranen A, Carpen O, Dean K, Seppanen M, Kemppainen J, et al. FDG PET/CT in staging of advanced epithelial ovarian cancer: Frequency of supradiaphragmatic lymph node metastasis challenges the traditional pattern of disease spread. Gynecol Oncol 2012;126(1):64-8.
- 83. National Cancer Action Team. Excellence in cancer care: the contribution of the clinical nurse specialist. 2010. [cited 30 Sep 2013]. Available from url: http://www.macmillan.org.uk/ Documents/AboutUs/Commissioners/ExcellenceinCancerCarethe ContributionoftheClinicalNurseSpecialist.pdf
- Macmillan Cancer Support. Cancer Clinical Nurse Specialists: An evidence review. 2011. [cited 30 Sep 2013]. Available from url: http://www.macmillan.org.uk/Documents/AboutUs/ Commissioners/ClinicalNurseSpecialistsAnEvidenceReview2012. pdf
- 85. Booth K, Beaver K, Kitchener H, O'Neill J, Farrell C. Women's experiences of information, psychological distress and worry after treatment for gynaecological cancer. Patient Educ Couns 2005;56(2):225-32.
- Allen J. The clinical nurse specialist in gynaecological oncologythe role in vulval cancer. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol 2003;17(4):591-607.
- Tarrant C, Sinfield P, Agarwal S, Baker R. Is seeing a specialist nurse associated with positive experiences of care? The role and value of specialist nurses in prostate cancer care. BMC Health Serv Res 2008;8:65.
- NHS Quality Improvement Scotland. Clinical standards: Management of ovarian cancer services standards. 2008. [cited 30 Sep 2013]. Available from url: http://www.healthcareimprovementscotland. org/our_work/cancer_care_improvement/programme_resources/ standards_for_cancer_services.aspx
- Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN). Prevention and management of venous thromboembolism. Edinburgh: SIGN; 2010. (SIGN publication no. 122). [cited 30 Sep 2013]. Available from url: http://www.sign.ac.uk/guidelines/fulltext/122/index.html
- Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN). Antibiotic prophylaxis in surgery. Edinburgh: SIGN; 2008. (SIGN publication no. 104). [cited 30 Sep 2013]. Available from url: http://www.sign. ac.uk/guidelines/fulltext/104/index.html
- 91. The Royal College of Pathologists. Datasets for the histopathological reporting of neoplasms of the ovaries and fallopian tubes and primary carcinomas of the peritoneum (3rd edition). 2010. [cited 30 Sep 2013]. Available from url: http://www.rcpath.org/publications-media/publications/datasets/ovaries-fallopian-tubes-peritoneum. htm
- Yeo EL, Yu KM, Poddar NC, Hui PK, Tang LC. The accuracy of intraoperative frozen section in the diagnosis of ovarian tumors. J Obstet Gynaecol Res 1998;24(3):189-95.
- 93. Houck K, Nikrui N, Duska L, Chang Y, Fuller AF, Bell D, et al. Borderline tumors of the ovary: correlation of frozen and permanent histopathologic diagnosis. Obstet Gynecol 2000;95(6 Pt 1):839-43.
- 94. Usubutun A, Altinok G, Kucukali T. The value of intraoperative consultation (frozen section) in the diagnosis of ovarian neoplasms. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 1998;77(10):1013-6.

- 95. Heatley MK. A systematic review of papers examining the use of intraoperative frozen section in predicting the final diagnosis of ovarian lesions. Int J Gynecol Pathol 2012;31(2):111-5.
- Cross PA, Naik R, Patel A, Nayar AGN, Hemming JD, Williamson SLH, et al. Intra-operative frozen section analysis for suspected early-stage ovarian cancer: 11 years of Gateshead Cancer Centre experience. BJOG 2012;119(2):194-201.
- 97. Geomini P, Bremer G, Kruitwagen R, Mol BWJ. Diagnostic accuracy of frozen section diagnosis of the adnexal mass: a metaanalysis. Gynecol Oncol 2005;96(1):1-9.
- Medeiros LR, Rosa DD, Edelweiss MI, Stein AT, Bozzetti MC, Zelmanowicz A, et al. Accuracy of frozen-section analysis in the diagnosis of ovarian tumors: a systematic quantitative review. Int J Gynecol Cancer 2005;15(2):192-202.
- 99. Helewa ME, Krepart GV, Lotocki R. Staging laparotomy in early epithelial ovarian carcinoma. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1986;154(2):282-6.
- Hand R, Fremgen A, Chmiel JS, Recant W, Berk R, Sylvester J, et al. Staging procedures, clinical management, and survival outcome for ovarian carcinoma. JAMA 1993;269(9):1119-22.
- 101. Trimbos JB, Vergote I, Bolis G, Vermorken JB, Mangioni C, Madronal C, et al. Impact of adjuvant chemotherapy and surgical staging in early-stage ovarian carcinoma: European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer-Adjuvant ChemoTherapy in Ovarian Neoplasm trial. J Natl Cancer Inst 2003;95(2):113-25.
- 102. Trimbos B, Timmers P, Pecorelli S, Coens C, Ven K, van der Burg M, et al. Surgical staging and treatment of early ovarian cancer: long-term analysis from a randomized trial. J Natl Cancer Inst 2010;102(13):982-7.
- 103. Camara O, Sehouli J. Controversies in the management of ovarian cancer pros and cons for lymph node dissection in ovarian cancer. Anticancer Res 2009;29(7):2837-43.
- Kim HS, Ju W, Jee BC, Kim YB, Park NH, Song YS, et al. Systematic lymphadenectomy for survival in epithelial ovarian cancer: a metaanalysis. Int J Gynecol Cancer 2010;20(4):520-8.
- 105. Abe A, Furumoto H, Irahara M, Ino H, Kamada M, Naka O, et al. The impact of systematic para-aortic and pelvic lymphadenectomy on survival in patients with optimally debulked ovarian cancer. J Obstet Gynaecol Res 2010;36(5):1023-30.
- 106. Rouzier R, Bergzoll C, Brun JL, Dubernard G, Selle F, Uzan S, et al. The role of lymph node resection in ovarian cancer: analysis of the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) database. BJOG 2010;117(12):1451-8.
- 107. Cress RD, Bauer K, O'Malley CD, Kahn AR, Schymura MJ, Wike JM, et al. Surgical staging of early stage epithelial ovarian cancer: results from the CDC-NPCR ovarian patterns of care study. Gynecol Oncol 2011;121(1):94-9.
- 108. Trimbos JB, Parmar M, Vergote I, Guthrie D, Bolis G, Colombo N, et al. International Collaborative Ovarian Neoplasm trial 1 and Adjuvant ChemoTherapy In Ovarian Neoplasm trial: two parallel randomized phase III trials of adjuvant chemotherapy in patients with earlystage ovarian carcinoma. J Natl Cancer Inst 2003;95(2):105-12.
- Colombo N, Parma G, Lapresa MT, Maggi F, Piantanida P, Maggioni A. Role of conservative surgery in ovarian cancer: the European experience. Int J Gynecol Cancer 2005;15 Suppl 3:206-11.
- 110. Marpeau O, Schilder J, Zafrani Y, Uzan C, Gouy S, Lhomme C, et al. Prognosis of patients who relapse after fertility-sparing surgery in epithelial ovarian cancer. Ann Surg Oncol 2008;15(2):478-83.

- 111. Wright JD, Shah M, Mathew L, Burke WM, Culhane J, Goldman N, et al. Fertility preservation in young women with epithelial ovarian cancer. Cancer 2009;115(18):4118-26.
- 112. Kajiyama H, Shibata K, Mizuno M, Umezu T, Suzuki S, Nawa A, et al. Long-term survival of young women receiving fertility-sparing surgery for ovarian cancer in comparison with those undergoing radical surgery. Br J Cancer 2011;105(9):1288-94.
- 113. Kajiyama H, Shibata K, Suzuki S, Ino K, Nawa A, Kawai M, et al. Fertility-sparing surgery in young women with invasive epithelial ovarian cancer. Eur J Surg Oncol 2010;36(4):404-8.
- 114. Satoh T, Hatae M, Watanabe Y, Yaegashi N, Ishiko O, Kodama S, et al. Outcomes of fertility-sparing surgery for stage I epithelial ovarian cancer: a proposal for patient selection. J Clin Oncol 2010;28(10):1727-32.
- 115. Ang C, Chan KKL, Bryant A, Naik R, Dickinson HO. Ultra-radical (extensive) surgery versus standard surgery for the primary cytoreduction of advanced epithelial ovarian cancer. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2011, Issue 4.
- 116. Elattar A, Bryant A, Winter-Roach BA, Hatem M, Naik R. Optimal primary surgical treatment for advanced epithelial ovarian cancer. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2011, Issue 8.
- 117. Morrison J, Haldar K, Kehoe S, Lawrie TA. Chemotherapy versus surgery for initial treatment in advanced ovarian epithelial cancer. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2012, Issue 8.
- 118. Galaal K, Naik R, Bristow RE, Patel A, Bryant A, Dickinson HO. Cytoreductive surgery plus chemotherapy versus chemotherapy alone for recurrent epithelial ovarian cancer. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2010, Issue 6.
- 119. Bristow RE, Puri I, Chi DS. Cytoreductive surgery for recurrent ovarian cancer: a meta-analysis. Gynecol Oncol 2009;112(1):265-74.
- 120. Classe JM, Jaffre I, Frenel JS, Bordes V, Dejode M, Dravet F, et al. Prognostic factors for patients treated for a recurrent FIGO stage III ovarian cancer: a retrospective study of 108 cases. Eur J Surg Oncol 2011;37(11):971-7.
- 121. Bae J, Lim MC, Choi J-H, Song Y-J, Lee K-S, Kang S, et al. Prognostic factors of secondary cytoreductive surgery for patients with recurrent epithelial ovarian cancer. J Gynecol Oncol 2009;20(2):101-6.
- 122. Chuang C-M, Chou Y-J, Yen M-S, Chao K-C, Twu N-F, Wu H-H, et al. The role of secondary cytoreductive surgery in patients with recurrent epithelial ovarian, tubal, and peritoneal cancers: a comparative effectiveness analysis. Oncologist 2012;17(6):847-55.
- Balbi G, Monteverde A, Landino I, Manganaro MA, Franzese C. Cytoreductive surgery and ovarian carcinoma. Acta Biomed 2009;80(3):230-3.
- 124. Sehouli J, Richter R, Braicu El, Buhling KJ, Bahra M, Neuhaus P, et al. Role of secondary cytoreductive surgery in ovarian cancer relapse: who will benefit? A systematic analysis of 240 consecutive patients. J Surg Oncol 2010;102(6):656-62.
- 125. Harter P, Sehouli J, Reuss A, Hasenburg A, Scambia G, Cibula D, et al. Prospective validation study of a predictive score for operability of recurrent ovarian cancer: the Multicenter Intergroup Study DESKTOP II. A project of the AGO Kommission OVAR, AGO Study Group, NOGGO, AGO-Austria, and MITO. Int J Gynecol Cancer 2011;21(2):289-95.
- 126. Winter-Roach BA, Kitchener HC, Lawrie TA. Adjuvant (post-surgery) chemotherapy for early stage epithelial ovarian cancer. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2012, Issue 3.

- 127. Mannel RS, Brady MF, Kohn EC, Hanjani P, Hiura M, Lee R, et al. A randomized phase III trial of IV carboplatin and paclitaxel x 3 courses followed by observation versus weekly maintenance low-dose paclitaxel in patients with early-stage ovarian carcinoma: a Gynecologic Oncology Group Study. Gynecol Oncol 2011;122(1):89-94.
- 128. Stewart L, Advanced Ovarian Cancer Trialists Group. Chemotherapy for advanced ovarian cancer. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 1999, Issue 1.
- 129. ICON2: randomised trial of single-agent carboplatin against three-drug combination of CAP (cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, and cisplatin) in women with ovarian cancer. ICON Collaborators. International Collaborative Ovarian Neoplasm Study. Lancet 1998;352(9140):1571-6.
- Neijt JP, Engelholm SA, Tuxen MK, Sorensen PG, Hansen M, Sessa C, et al. Exploratory phase III study of paclitaxel and cisplatin versus paclitaxel and carboplatin in advanced ovarian cancer. J Clin Oncol 2000;18(17):3084-92.
- 131. Muggia FM, Braly PS, Brady MF, Sutton G, Niemann TH, Lentz SL, et al. Phase III randomized study of cisplatin versus paclitaxel versus cisplatin and paclitaxel in patients with suboptimal stage III or IV ovarian cancer: a gynecologic oncology group study. J Clin Oncol 2000;18(1):106-15.
- 132. Piccart MJ, Bertelsen K, James K, Cassidy J, Mangioni C, Simonsen E, et al. Randomized intergroup trial of cisplatin-paclitaxel versus cisplatin-cyclophosphamide in women with advanced epithelial ovarian cancer: three-year results. J Natl Cancer Inst 2000;92(9):699-708.
- 133. International Collaborative Ovarian Neoplasm Group. Paclitaxel plus carboplatin versus standard chemotherapy with either singleagent carboplatin or cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, and cisplatin in women with ovarian cancer: the ICON3 randomised trial. Lancet 2002;360(9332):505-15.
- 134. Aravantinos G, Fountzilas G, Bamias A, Grimani I, Rizos S, Kalofonos HP, et al. Carboplatin and paclitaxel versus cisplatin, paclitaxel and doxorubicin for first-line chemotherapy of advanced ovarian cancer: a Hellenic Cooperative Oncology Group (HeCOG) study. Eur J Cancer 2008;44(15):2169-77.
- 135. Bolis G, Scarfone G, Raspagliesi F, Mangili G, Danese S, Scollo P, et al. Paclitaxel/carboplatin versus topotecan/paclitaxel/carboplatin in patients with FIGO suboptimally resected stage III-IV epithelial ovarian cancer a multicenter, randomized study. Eur J Cancer 2010;46(16):2905-12.
- 136. Bookman MA, Brady MF, McGuire WP, Harper PG, Alberts DS, Friedlander M, et al. Evaluation of new platinum-based treatment regimens in advanced-stage ovarian cancer: a Phase III Trial of the Gynecologic Cancer Intergroup. J Clin Oncol 2009;27(9):1419-25.
- 137. Hoskins P, Vergote I, Cervantes A, Tu D, Stuart G, Zola P, et al. Advanced ovarian cancer: phase III randomized study of sequential cisplatin-topotecan and carboplatin-paclitaxel vs carboplatinpaclitaxel. J Natl Cancer Inst 2010;102(20):1547-56.
- 138. du Bois A, Herrstedt J, Hardy-Bessard AC, Muller HH, Harter P, Kristensen G, et al. Phase III trial of carboplatin plus paclitaxel with or without gemcitabine in first-line treatment of epithelial ovarian cancer. J Clin Oncol 2010;28(27):4162-9.
- 139. Gordon AN, Teneriello M, Janicek MF, Hines J, Lim PC, Chen MD, et al. Phase III trial of induction gemcitabine or paclitaxel plus carboplatin followed by paclitaxel consolidation in ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol 2011;123(3):479-85.

- 140. Pignata S, Scambia G, Ferrandina G, Savarese A, Sorio R, Breda E, et al. Carboplatin plus paclitaxel versus carboplatin plus pegylated liposomal doxorubicin as first-line treatment for patients with ovarian cancer: the MITO-2 randomized phase III trial. J Clin Oncol 2011;29(27):3628-35.
- 141. van der Burg MEL, Boere IA, Berns PMJJ. Dose-dense therapy is of benefit in primary treatment of ovarian cancer: contra. Ann Oncol 2011;22 Suppl 8:viii33-viii9.
- 142. Fruscio R, Garbi A, Parma G, Lissoni AA, Garavaglia D, Bonazzi CM, et al. Randomized phase III clinical trial evaluating weekly cisplatin for advanced epithelial ovarian cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 2011;103(4):347-51.
- 143. Banerjee S, Rustin G, Paul J, Williams C, Pledge S, Gabra H, et al. A multicenter, randomized trial of flat dosing versus intrapatient dose escalation of single-agent carboplatin as first-line chemotherapy for advanced ovarian cancer: an SGCTG (SCOTROC 4) and ANZGOG study on behalf of GCIG. Ann Oncol 2013;24(3):679-87.
- 144. Katsumata N, Yasuda M, Takahashi F, Isonishi S, Jobo T, Aoki D, et al. Dose-dense paclitaxel once a week in combination with carboplatin every 3 weeks for advanced ovarian cancer: a phase 3, open-label, randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2009;374(9698):1331-8.
- 145. Dalton HJ, Yu X, Hu L, Kapp DS, Benjamin I, Monk BJ, et al. An economic analysis of dose dense weekly paclitaxel plus carboplatin versus every-3-week paclitaxel plus carboplatin in the treatment of advanced ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol 2012;124(2):199-204.
- 146. Burger RA, Brady MF, Bookman MA, Fleming GF, Monk BJ, Huang H, et al. Incorporation of bevacizumab in the primary treatment of ovarian cancer. N Engl J Med 2011;365(26):2473-83.
- 147. Perren TJ, Swart AM, Pfisterer J, Ledermann JA, Pujade-Lauraine E, Kristensen G, et al. A phase 3 trial of bevacizumab in ovarian cancer. N Engl J Med 2011;365(26):2484-96.
- 148. European Medicines Agency, Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use (CHMP). Assessment report. Avastatin (bevacizumab). EMEA/H/C/000582/II/0041. [cited 30 Sep 2013]. Available from url: http://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/en_GB/document_library/ EPAR_-_Assessment_Report_-_Variation/human/000582/ WC500120123.pdf
- 149. Scottish Medicines Consortium. Bevacizumab, 25mg/mL, concentrate for solution for infusion (Avastin®) SMC No. (806/12). [cited 30 Sep 2013]. Available from url: http://www. scottishmedicines.org.uk/files/advice/bevacizumab_Avastin.pdf
- 150. Berek J, Taylor P, McGuire W, Smith LM, Schultes B, Nicodemus CF. Oregovomab maintenance monoimmunotherapy does not improve outcomes in advanced ovarian cancer. J Clin Oncol 2009;27(3):418-25.
- 151. Alberts DS, Marth C, Alvarez RD, Johnson G, Bidzinski M, Kardatzke DR, et al. Randomized phase 3 trial of interferon gamma-1b plus standard carboplatin/paclitaxel versus carboplatin/paclitaxel alone for first-line treatment of advanced ovarian and primary peritoneal carcinomas: Results from a prospectively designed analysis of progression-free survival. Gynecol Oncol 2008;109(2):174-81.
- 152. Meier W, Du Bois A, Rau J, Gropp-Meier M, Baumann K, Huober J, et al. Randomized phase II trial of carboplatin and paclitaxel with or without lonafarnib in first-line treatment of epithelial ovarian cancer stage IIB-IV. Gynecol Oncol 2012;126(2):236-40.

- 153. Muthuramalingam SR, Braybrooke JP, Blann AD, Madhusudan S, Wilner S, Jenkins A, et al. A prospective randomised phase II trial of thalidomide with carboplatin compared with carboplatin alone as a first-line therapy in women with ovarian cancer, with evaluation of potential surrogate markers of angiogenesis. Eur J Gynaecol Oncol 2011;32(3):253-8.
- 154. Mei L, Chen H, Wei DM, Fang F, Liu GJ, Xie HY, et al. Maintenance chemotherapy for ovarian cancer. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2010, Issue 9.
- 155. Markman M, Liu PY, Moon J, Monk BJ, Copeland L, Wilczynski S, et al. Impact on survival of 12 versus 3 monthly cycles of paclitaxel (175 mg/m2) administered to patients with advanced ovarian cancer who attained a complete response to primary platinum-paclitaxel: follow-up of a Southwest Oncology Group and Gynecologic Oncology Group phase 3 trial. Gynecol Oncol 2009;114(2):195-8.
- 156. Pecorelli S, Favalli G, Gadducci A, Katsaros D, Panici PB, Carpi A, et al. Phase III trial of observation versus six courses of paclitaxel in patients with advanced epithelial ovarian cancer in complete response after six courses of paclitaxel/platinum-based chemotherapy: final results of the After-6 protocol 1. J Clin Oncol 2009;27(28):4642-8.
- 157. Jaaback K, Johnson N, Lawrie TA. Intraperitoneal chemotherapy for the initial management of primary epithelial ovarian cancer. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2011, Issue 11.
- 158. Fung-Kee-Fung M, Oliver T, Elit L, Oza A, Hirte HW, Bryson P. Optimal chemotherapy treatment for women with recurrent ovarian cancer. Curr Oncol 2007;14(5):195-208.
- 159. Holloway RW, Grendys EC, Lefebvre P, Vekeman F, McMeekin S. Tolerability, efficacy, and safety of pegylated liposomal Doxorubicin in combination with Carboplatin versus gemcitabine-Carboplatin for the treatment of platinum-sensitive recurrent ovarian cancer: a systematic review. Oncologist 2010;15(10):1073-82.
- 160. Main C, Bojke L, Griffin S, Norman G, Barbieri M, Mather L, et al. Topotecan, pegylated liposomal doxorubicin hydrochloride and paclitaxel for second-line or subsequent treatment of advanced ovarian cancer: a systematic review and economic evaluation. Health Technol Assess 2006;10(9):1-132. iii-iv.
- Kyrgiou M, Salanti G, Pavlidis N, Paraskevaidis E, Ioannidis JPA. Survival benefits with diverse chemotherapy regimens for ovarian cancer: meta-analysis of multiple treatments. J Natl Cancer Inst 2006;98(22):1655-63.
- 162. Aghajanian C, Blank SV, Goff BA, Judson PL, Teneriello MG, Husain A, et al. OCEANS: A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase III trial of chemotherapy with or without bevacizumab in patients with platinum-sensitive recurrent epithelial ovarian, primary peritoneal, or fallopian tube cancer. J Clin Oncol 2012;30(17):2039-45.
- 163. Ferrandina G, Ludovisi M, Lorusso D, Pignata S, Breda E, Savarese A, et al. Phase III trial of gemcitabine compared with pegylated liposomal doxorubicin in progressive or recurrent ovarian cancer. J Clin Oncol 2008;26(6):890-6.
- 164. Gladieff L, Ferrero A, De rauglaudre G, Brown C, Vasey P, Reinthaller A, et al. Carboplatin and pegylated liposomal doxorubicin versus carboplatin and paclitaxel in partially platinum-sensitive ovarian cancer patients: Results from a subset analysis of the CALYPSO phase III trial. Ann Oncol 2012;23(5):1185-9.
- 165. Joly F, Ray-Coquard I, Fabbro M, Donoghoe M, Boman K, Sugimoto A, et al. Decreased hypersensitivity reactions with carboplatinpegylated liposomal doxorubicin compared to carboplatinpaclitaxel combination: analysis from the GCIG CALYPSO relapsing ovarian cancer trial. Gynecol Oncol 2011;122(2):226-32.

- 166. Kurtz JE, Kaminsky MC, Floquet A, Veillard AS, Kimmig R, Dorum A, et al. Ovarian cancer in elderly patients: Carboplatin and pegylated liposomal doxorubicin versus carboplatin and paclitaxel in late relapse: A gynecologic cancer intergroup (GCIG) CALYPSO substudy. Ann Oncol 2011;22(11):2417-23.
- 167. Meier W, du Bois A, Reuss A, Kuhn W, Olbricht S, Gropp M, et al. Topotecan versus treosulfan, an alkylating agent, in patients with epithelial ovarian cancer and relapse within 12 months following 1st-line platinum/paclitaxel chemotherapy. A prospectively randomized phase III trial by the Arbeitsgemeinschaft Gynaekologische Onkologie Ovarian Cancer Study Group (AGO-OVAR). Gynecol Oncol 2009;114(2):199-205.
- Monk BJ, Herzog TJ, Kaye SB, Krasner CN, Vermorken JB, Muggia FM, et al. Trabectedin plus pegylated liposomal Doxorubicin in recurrent ovarian cancer. J Clin Oncol 2010;28(19):3107-14.
- 169. Mutch DG, Orlando M, Goss T, Teneriello MG, Gordon AN, McMeekin SD, et al. Randomized phase III trial of gemcitabine compared with pegylated liposomal doxorubicin in patients with platinumresistant ovarian cancer. J Clin Oncol 2007;25(19):2811-8.
- 170. Pfisterer J, Plante M, Vergote I, Du Bois A, Hirte H, Lacave AJ, et al. Gemcitabine plus carboplatin compared with carboplatin in patients with platinum-sensitive recurrent ovarian cancer: An intergroup trial of the AGO-OVAR, the NCIC CTG, and the EORTC GCG. J Clin Oncol 2006;24(29):4699-707.
- 171. Poveda A, Vergote I, Tjulandin S, Kong B, Roy M, Chan S, et al. Trabectedin plus pegylated liposomal doxorubicin in relapsed ovarian cancer: outcomes in the partially platinum-sensitive (platinum-free interval 6-12 months) subpopulation of OVA-301 phase III randomized trial. Ann Oncol 2011;22(1):39-48.
- 172. Pujade-Lauraine E, Wagner U, Aavall-Lundqvist E, Gebski V, Heywood M, Vasey PA, et al. Pegylated liposomal Doxorubicin and Carboplatin compared with Paclitaxel and Carboplatin for patients with platinum-sensitive ovarian cancer in late relapse. J Clin Oncol 2010;28(20):3323-9.
- 173. Sehouli J, Stengel D, Harter P, Kurzeder C, Belau A, Bogenrieder T, et al. Topotecan weekly versus conventional 5-day schedule in patients with platinum-resistant ovarian cancer: A randomized multicenter phase II trial of the North-Eastern German Society of Gynecological Oncology Ovarian Cancer Study Group. J Clin Oncol 2011;29(2):242-8.
- 174. Sehouli J, Stengel D, Oskay-Oezcelik G, Zeimet AG, Sommer H, Klare P, et al. Nonplatinum topotecan combinations versus topotecan alone for recurrent ovarian cancer: results of a phase III study of the North-Eastern German Society of Gynecological Oncology Ovarian Cancer Study Group. J Clin Oncol 2008;26(19):3176-82.
- 175. Wagner U, Marth C, Largillier R, Kaern J, Brown C, Heywood M, et al. Final overall survival results of phase III GCIG CALYPSO trial of pegylated liposomal doxorubicin and carboplatin vs paclitaxel and carboplatin in platinum-sensitive ovarian cancer patients. Br J Cancer 2012;107(4):588-91.
- 176. Argenta PA, Thomas SG, Judson PL, Downs Jr LS, Geller MA, Carson LF, et al. A phase II study of fulvestrant in the treatment of multiplyrecurrent epithelial ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol 2009;113(2):205-9.
- 177. Balbi G, Piano LD, Cardone A, Cirelli G. Second-line therapy of advanced ovarian cancer with GnRH analogs. Int J Gynecol Cancer 2004;14(5):799-803.
- 178. Bowman A, Gabra H, Langdon SP, Lessells A, Stewart M, Young A, et al. CA125 response is associated with estrogen receptor expression in a phase II trial of letrozole in ovarian cancer: identification of an endocrine-sensitive subgroup. Clin Cancer Res 2002;8(7):2233-9.

- 179. Karagol H, Saip P, Uygun K, Caloglu M, Eralp Y, Tas F, et al. The efficacy of tamoxifen in patients with advanced epithelial ovarian cancer. Med Oncol 2007;24(1):39-43.
- Papadimitriou CA, Markaki S, Siapkaras J, Vlachos G, Efstathiou E, Grimani I, et al. Hormonal therapy with letrozole for relapsed epithelial ovarian cancer. Long-term results of a phase II study. Oncology 2004;66(2):112-7.
- 181. Ramirez PT, Schmeler KM, Milam MR, Slomovitz BM, Smith JA, Kavanagh JJ, et al. Efficacy of letrozole in the treatment of recurrent platinum- and taxane-resistant high-grade cancer of the ovary or peritoneum. Gynecol Oncol 2008;110(1):56-9.
- 182. Smyth JF, Gourley C, Walker G, MacKean MJ, Stevenson A, Williams ARW, et al. Antiestrogen therapy is active in selected ovarian cancer cases: The use of letrozole in estrogen receptor-positive patients. Clin Cancer Res 2007;13(12):3617-22.
- 183. Verschraegen CF, Westphalen S, Hu W, Loyer E, Kudelka A, Volker P, et al. Phase II study of cetrorelix, a luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone antagonist in patients with platinum-resistant ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol 2003;90(3):552-9.
- Williams C, Simera I, Bryant A. Tamoxifen for relapse of ovarian cancer. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2010, Issue 3.
- MacKay HJ, Brady MF, Oza AM, Reuss A, Pujade-Lauraine E, Swart AM, et al. Prognostic relevance of uncommon ovarian histology in women with stage III/IV epithelial ovarian cancer. Int J Gynecol Cancer 2010;20(6):945-52.
- 186. Shimada M, Kigawa J, Ohishi Y, Yasuda M, Suzuki M, Hiura M, et al. Clinicopathological characteristics of mucinous adenocarcinoma of the ovary. Gynecol Oncol 2009;113(3):331-4.
- 187. Hess V, A'Hern R, Nasiri N, King DM, Blake PR, Barton DPJ, et al. Mucinous epithelial ovarian cancer: a separate entity requiring specific treatment. J Clin Oncol 2004;22(6):1040-4.
- 188. Sugiyama T, Kamura T, Kigawa J, Terakawa N, Kikuchi Y, Kita T, et al. Clinical characteristics of clear cell carcinoma of the ovary: a distinct histologic type with poor prognosis and resistance to platinum-based chemotherapy. Cancer 2000;88(11):2584-9.
- 189. Goff BA, Sainz de la Cuesta R, Muntz HG, Fleischhacker D, Ek M, Rice LW, et al. Clear cell carcinoma of the ovary: a distinct histologic type with poor prognosis and resistance to platinum-based chemotherapy in stage III disease. Gynecol Oncol 1996;60(3):412-7.
- 190. Pectasides D, Fountzilas G, Aravantinos G, Kalofonos C, Efstathiou H, Farmakis D, et al. Advanced stage clear-cell epithelial ovarian cancer: the Hellenic Cooperative Oncology Group experience. Gynecol Oncol 2006;102(2):285-91.
- 191. Crispens MA, Bodurka D, Deavers M, Lu K, Silva EG, Gershenson DM. Response and survival in patients with progressive or recurrent serous ovarian tumors of low malignant potential. Obstet Gynecol 2002;99(1):3-10.
- 192. Hoskins PJ, Le N, Gilks B, Tinker A, Santos J, Wong F, et al. Low-stage ovarian clear cell carcinoma: population-based outcomes in British Columbia, Canada, with evidence for a survival benefit as a result of irradiation. J Clin Oncol 2012;30(14):1656-62.
- 193. Farley J, Brady WE, Vathipadiekal V, Lankes HA, Coleman R, Morgan MA, et al. Selumetinib in women with recurrent low-grade serous carcinoma of the ovary or peritoneum: an open-label, single-arm, phase 2 study. Lancet Oncol 2013;14(2):134-40.
- Junor EJ, Hole DJ, Gillis CR. Management of ovarian cancer: referral to a multidisciplinary team matters. Br J Cancer 1994;70(2):363-70.

- 195. Kew F, Galaal K, Bryant A, Naik R. Evaluation of follow-up strategies for patients with epithelial ovarian cancer following completion of primary treatment. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2011, Issue 6.
- 196. Geurts SME, de Vegt F, van Altena AM, van Dijck JAAM, Tjan-Heijnen VCG, Verbeek ALM, et al. Considering early detection of relapsed ovarian cancer: a review of the literature. Int J Gynecol Cancer 2011;21(5):837-45.
- 197. Lajer H, Jensen MB, Kilsmark J, Albaek J, Svane D, Mirza MR, et al. The value of gynecologic cancer follow-up: evidence-based ignorance? Int J Gynecol Cancer 2010;20(8):1307-20.
- 198. Dvoretsky PM, Richards KA, Angel C, Rabinowitz L, Beecham JB, Bonfiglio TA. Survival time, causes of death, and tumor/treatmentrelated morbidity in 100 women with ovarian cancer. Hum Path 1988;19(11):1273-9.
- 199. Rose PG, Piver MS, Tsukada Y, Lau TS. Metastatic patterns in histologic variants of ovarian cancer. An autopsy study. Cancer 1989;64(7):1508-13.
- 200. Feuer DJ, Broadley KE. Surgery for the resolution of symptoms in malignant bowel obstruction in advanced gynaecological and gastrointestinal cancer. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2000, Issue 3.
- 201. Taylor RH. Laparotomy for obstruction with recurrent tumour. Br J Surg 1985;72:327.
- 202. Ketcham AS, Hoye RC, Pilch YH, Morton DL. Delayed intestinal obstruction following treatment for cancer. Cancer 1970;25(2):406-10.
- 203. Rubin SC, Hoskins WJ, Benjamin I, Lewis JL, Jr. Palliative surgery for intestinal obstruction in advanced ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol 1989;34(1):16-9.
- 204. van Ooijen B, van der Burg ME, Planting AS, Siersema PD, Wiggers T. Surgical treatment or gastric drainage only for intestinal obstruction in patients with carcinoma of the ovary or peritoneal carcinomatosis of other origin. Surg Gynecol Obstet 1993;176(5):469-74.
- 205. Lau PW, Lorentz TG. Results of surgery for malignant bowel obstruction in advanced, unresectable, recurrent colorectal cancer. Dis Colon Rectum 1993;36(1):61-4.
- 206. Baines M, Oliver DJ, Carter RL. Medical management of intestinal obstruction in patients with advanced malignant disease. A clinical and pathological study. Lancet 1985;2(8462):990-3.
- 207. Feuer DJ, Broadley KE. Corticosteroids for the resolution of malignant bowel obstruction in advanced gynaecological and gastrointestinal cancer. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 1999, Issue 3.
- 208. Twycross R, Wilcock A, Charlesworth S, Dickman A. Palliative care formulary. 2nd ed. Abingdon: Radcliffe Medical Press; 2002.
- 209. Ripamonti C, Mercadante S, Groff L, Zecca E, De Conno F, Casuccio A. Role of octreotide, scopolamine butylbromide, and hydration in symptom control of patients with inoperable bowel obstruction and nasogastric tubes: a prospective randomized trial. J Pain Symptom Manage 2000;19(1):23-34.
- Mercadante S, Ripamonti C, Casuccio A, Zecca E, Groff L. Comparison of octreotide and hyoscine butylbromide in controlling gastrointestinal symptoms due to malignant inoperable bowel obstruction. Support Care Cancer 2000;8(3):188-91.

- 211. Bizer LS, Liebling RW, Delany HM, Gliedman ML. Small bowel obstruction: the role of nonoperative treatment in simple intestinal obstruction and predictive criteria for strangulation obstruction. Surgery 1981;89(4):407-13.
- 212. Koukouras D, Mastronikolis NS, Tzoracoleftherakis E, Angelopoulou E, Kalfarentzos F, Androulakis J. The role of nasogastric tube after elective abdominal surgery. ClinTer 2001;152(4):241-4.
- 213. Ripamonti C, Twycross R, Baines M, Bozzetti F, Capri S, De Conno F, et al. Clinical-practice recommendations for the management of bowel obstruction in patients with end-stage cancer. Support Care Cancer 2001;9(4):223-33.
- 214. Pelham A, Lee MA, Regnard CBF. Gabapentin for coeliac plexus pain. Palliat Med 2002;16(4):355-6.
- 215. Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN). Control of pain in adults with cancer. Edinburgh: SIGN; 2008. (SIGN publication no. 106). [cited 30 Sep 2013]. Available from url: http://www.sign. ac.uk/guidelines/fulltext/106/index.html
- 216. Healthcare Improvement Scotland. Ovarian Cancer Clinical Quality Performance Indicators. [cited 30 Sep 2013]. Available from url: http://www.healthcareimprovementscotland.org/our_work/ cancer_care_improvement/programme_resources/cancer_qpis. aspx
- 217. Silverberg SG. Histopathologic grading of ovarian carcinoma: a review and proposal. Int J Gynecol Pathol 2000;19(1):7-15.
- Elston CW, Ellis IO. Pathological prognostic factors in breast cancer.
 I. The value of histological grade in breast cancer: experience from a large study with long-term follow-up. Histopathology 1991;19(5):403-10.
- 219. Pereira H, Pinder SE, Sibbering DM, Galea MH, Elston CW, Blamey RW, et al. Pathological prognostic factors in breast cancer. IV: Should you be a typer or a grader? A comparative study of two histological prognostic features in operable breast carcinoma. Histopathology 1995;27(3):219-26.
- 220. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). Topotecan, pegylated liposomal doxorubicin hydrochloride, paclitaxel, trabectedin and gemcitabine for treating recurrent ovarian cancer. London: NICE; 2016. Available from url: https://www.nice.org.uk/ guidance/ta389.
- 221. Wu YS, Shui L, Shen D, Chen X. Bevacizumab combined with chemotherapy for ovarian cancer: an updated systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Oncotarget 2017;8(6):10703-13.
- 222. Coleman RL, Oza AM, Lorusso D, Aghajanian C, Oaknin A, Dean A, et al. Rucaparib maintenance treatment for recurrent ovarian carcinoma after response to platinum therapy (ARIEL3): A randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. The Lancet. 2017.
- 223. Mirza MR, Monk BJ, Herrstedt J, Oza AM, Mahner S, Redondo A, et al. Niraparib maintenance therapy in platinum-sensitive, recurrent ovarian cancer. New England Journal of Medicine 2016;375(22):2154-64.

- 224. Pujade-Lauraine E, Ledermann JA, Selle F, Gebski V, Penson RT, Oza AM, et al. Olaparib tablets as maintenance therapy in patients with platinum-sensitive, relapsed ovarian cancer and a BRCA1/2 mutation (SOLO2/ENGOT-Ov21): A double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. The Lancet Oncology. 2017.
- 225. Ledermann JA, Harter P, Gourley C, Friedlander M, Vergote I, Rustin G, et al. Overall survival in patients with platinum-sensitive recurrent serous ovarian cancer receiving olaparib maintenance monotherapy: an updated analysis from a randomised, placebocontrolled, double-blind, phase 2 trial. The Lancet Oncology 2016;17(11):1579-89.

ISBN 978 1 909103 15 3 www.sign.ac.uk



www.healthcareimprovementscotland.org

Edinburgh Office | Gyle Square |1 South Gyle Crescent | Edinburgh | EH12 9EB Telephone 0131 623 4300 Fax 0131 623 4299

Glasgow Office | Delta House | 50 West Nile Street | Glasgow | G1 2NP Telephone 0141 225 6999 Fax 0141 248 3776

The Healthcare Environment Inspectorate, the Scottish Health Council, the Scottish Health Technologies Group, the Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN) and the Scottish Medicines Consortium are key components of our organisation.







